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Group key figures

31/12/2018 31/12/2017
Balance sheet figures EUR thousand EUR thousand

Total assets 59,129 46,154

Non-current assets 15,110 12,175

Current assets 42,053 32,230

Shareholders’ equity 9,500 4,528

Provisions 7,690 6,801

Liabilities 41,938 34,822

2018 2017
Income statement figures EUR thousand EUR thousand

Sales 254,204 220,971

Net profit* 1,453 720

*2,333,449.92 EUR 2018 net profit excluding 880,521.39 EUR non-cash pension provisions (2017: 727,735.62 EUR pension provisions)

Finance Calendar

Expected date

Start of the financial year 1 January 2019

Annual General Meeting 7 August 2019

Interim Report 2019 30 June 2019

End of the financial year 31 December 2019

Annual financial statements 2019 30 June 2020
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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 
 

As was already apparent in our half-year report for the 

2018 financial year, the full year was a successful one 

overall. The expansion of our global business activities, 

the sustained positive upward trend in commodity mar-

kets, the increased demand for coal and higher com-

modity price levels provided a positive environment for 

HMS Bergbau AG’s development.

Once again, the HMS Group either met or exceeded its 

sales forecasts announced last year. Sales at the HMS 

Bergbau Group in the 2018 financial year amounted 

to EUR 254,204 thousand after totalling EUR 220,971 

thousand in 2017. EBITDA in the past 2018 financial 

year also improved slightly to EUR 2,086 thousand. Net 

profit for the period even more than doubled as at 31 

December 2018. Net profit totalled EUR 1,453 thou-

sand compared to EUR 720 thousand as at 31 De-

cember 2017. Following an increase in total assets of 

around EUR 13 million to EUR 59.1 million as at the 

31 December 2018 reporting date, the equity ratio 

improved significantly year-on-year by roughly 9.8 per 

cent to a total of 18.3 per cent.

An important factor driving HMS Bergbau AG’s stronger 

capital base and improved balance sheet structure was 

the capital increase carried out in autumn 2018, which 

resulted in a rise of EUR 220,588.00, or just under 5.07 

per cent, in the Company’s share capital from EUR 

4,370 thousand to EUR 4,591 thousand. Shareholders’ 

equity as at 31 December 2018 came to a total of EUR 

9,500 thousand compared to EUR 4,528 thousand as 

at 31 December 2017.  

The energy markets also performed well. The steady 

rise in global energy consumption over the past several 

years – with the fossil fuel coal as a primary source of 

energy – will continue in the years ahead with China 

continuing to represent the most important consumer 

of coal. The management of HMS Bergbau AG expects 

coal and raw material prices to trend higher in the fu-

ture – despite the temporary price declines – driven by 

rapidly growing industrial demand from the Pacific Rim, 

the growth in the global population and the general in-

crease in per capita energy consumption. 

Based on the expectation of higher world market prices 

for raw materials, securing our own resources and the 

accompanying expansion of the value chain will contin-

ue to play an essential role in securing HMS Bergbau 

AG’s long-term market position. Management does not 

anticipate a decline in the global demand for fossil fuels, 

particularly in light of the known risks of nuclear energy 

and the current difficulties in implementing the turna-

round in energy policy, or „Energiewende“, and despite 

current discussions of a coal exit in Germany. Coal-fired 

power generation will become increasingly important as 

a flexible energy source in the world’s growth regions.

For this reason, HMS Bergbau AG’s activities are fo-

cused not only on expanding its business in established 

markets but also on improving its market position in 

regions that are strategically important for the Group, 

such as South Africa, India and Indonesia. At the same 

time, the initial activities in China and the United States 

have led to the first business transactions, with devel-

opments in the US being particularly positive. Our new 

business partners were impressed with HMS Bergbau 

AG’s position as an international commodities trading 

group with expertise mapping the entire value chain 

from production to logistics to delivery. In addition to our 

focus on the coal business, our efforts are directed at 

increasing our trade in other raw materials such as ores, 

fertilizers and cement products as we place importance 

on our further diversification on the world market. Of 

particular note here are the transactions in ore trade, 

which have recently shown promising developments. 

Alongside the aforementioned operating activities, HMS 

Bergbau AG is working on developing and producing 

its own coal resources. The most promising project 

in this respect is the Silesian Coal International Group 

of Companies S.A. in Poland. It was not until the end 

of May 2019 that the local environmental authority in 

Katowice, Poland, issued a favourable environmental 

decision in the course of our application for a mining 

license. A positive environmental decision is considered 

the last milestone on the road to receiving the final min-

ing license while, at the same time, outlining the frame-

work conditions for the environmental compatibility of 

Letter to Shareholders
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the mining process. As a result, the mining license can 

be applied for in a timely manner.

Silesian Coal International Group of Companies SA 

was already awarded the “Green Laurel” environmental 

award in January 2019 by the “Ekorozwój” (“Eco-Devel-

opment”) Economic Chamber. The prize was awarded 

for the innovative hard coal mining project that uses the 

existing infrastructure to largely avoid unnecessary en-

vironmental pollution. 

	

The drilling in Orzesze, carried out by HMS and based 

on an exclusive exploration license, indicated potential 

coal reserves of 2.2 billion tonnes in-situ, of which ap-

proximately 672 million tonnes were identified as high-

grade, recoverable coal according to the JORC stand-

ard. Silesian plans to develop the reserves using the 

existing infrastructure and to build production to roughly 

3 million tonnes of coal annually at low cost (approx. 1/3 

of the cost of a greenfield project) and within two and a 

half years of receiving the mining licence. The planned 

production is split equally between high-margin coking 

coal and thermal coal. The license region has a total 

area of approximately 20 km² and is located in the his-

toric coal region of Katowice, Poland.

The international positioning and consistent growth in 

the range of services of HMS Bergbau AG have fuelled 

the company’s steady development in recent years and 

is expected to lead to stronger results and higher sales 

volumes in the future. Consequently, management in-

tends to systematically pursue its chosen path during 

the 2019 financial year. For the current 2019 financial 

year, management is forecasting slightly higher gross 

margins accompanied by a positive annual result similar 

to the level reported in the 2018 financial year. A funda-

mental prerequisite for the planning of HMS Bergbau 

AG is relatively free markets without major trade restric-

tions. Against this background, the US-China trade war 

made increased demands on the company‘s risk man-

agement, especially in terms of hedging currency risks 

amid greater exchange rate volatility. HMS Bergbau AG 

has fully met these more stringent requirements but is 

nevertheless hoping for a rapid solution to trade con-

flicts and the creation of a stable and more predictable 

trading environment.

Chief Executive Officer
Heinz Schernikau, CEO of HMS Bergbau AG, founded 

the Company in Berlin in 1995. He has been in the inter-

national coal trade since 1973 and his positions include 

advisor to the Board of leading coal producers in Asia and 

Europe. He has established extensive international con-

tacts and places particular importance on achieving long-

term business relationships, mutual trust and reliability.

Chief Operating Officer
Dennis Schwindt (COO) holds a degree in Economics 

from the Humboldt-University in Berlin. At HMS Bergbau 

AG, he has been managing several operating projects 

within the commodity trading area as the company‘s au-

thorised representative since 2012. He gained extensive 

experience in engineering and in the oil and gas indus-

tries from his previous positions at medium-sized Ger-

man companies and international groups. 

Chief Financial Officer
Steffen Ewald is the CFO of HMS Bergbau AG. After 

graduating in business administration, Ewald began his 

career at a medium-sized, international power plant en-

gineering company, rising through the ranks to become 

Commercial Manager. Before switching to HMS Bergbau 

AG, Ewald was responsible for Group Finance and Re-

porting at the German holding company of an interna-

tional media corporation.

Heinz Schernikau 
Chief Executive Officer

Steffen Ewald
Chief Financial Officer

Dennis Schwindt
Chief Operating Officer

Berlin, June 2019
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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 

In the 2018 financial year, the Supervisory Board of HMS 

Bergbau AG carried out its tasks as stipulated by law 

and the Company’s Articles of Association and continu-

ously monitored and advised the Management Board in 

its work. The Supervisory Board obtained comprehen-

sive information on the current economic and financial 

position of the Group; its business performance; finan-

cial, investment and personnel planning as well as its 

strategic development at regular board meetings and 

through additional verbal and written reports submitted 

to the Supervisory Board by the Management Board. 

The reports also pertained to the current earnings situa-

tion, opportunities and risks and risk management. The 

Supervisory Board discussed all fundamentally import-

ant decisions in depth with the Management Board. The 

Supervisory Board assessed any business transactions 

requiring our approval in detail before the relevant reso-

lutions were adopted. The Supervisory Board voted on 

reports and proposals put forward by the Management 

Board when required by law or the Articles of Associa-

tion.

Focal points of the meetings
The Supervisory Board of HMS Bergbau AG held a total 

of 5 meetings in the 2018 financial year. Subjects that 

were regularly discussed included the current business 

performance of the company and its subsidiaries as well 

as its liquidity, net assets and financial position. All of the 

resolutions required by law and the Articles of Associa-

tion were passed. The Management Board informed the 

Supervisory Board promptly between meetings about 

important matters. Where necessary, resolutions were 

passed by circular procedure.

At the centre of the Supervisory Board meetings in 

the 2018 financial year was again the Group’s strate-

gic focus and corporate planning, as well as the cor-

responding adjustments to the organisational structure 

and to personnel at the Company and its subsidiaries. 

The strategic position of the Silesian Coal International 

Group of Companies S.A. and the funding of operation-

al activities were repeated topics for discussion at the 

meetings. HMS Group’s international operations in Asia 

and Southern Africa were expanded during the year. 

The developments on the domestic and European coal 

markets and price trends were also subjects at the Su-

pervisory Board meetings accompanied by issues re-

lating to the financing of the local subsidiaries’ trading 

activities and the provision of the necessary guarantees 

by HMS Bergbau AG. Issues concerning know-your-

client processes and sustainable business, as well as 

the implementation in commercial contracts, were also 

discussed.

The Management Board regularly informed us about 

general market developments, price and earnings fore-

casts and intended actions. The Management Board 

also presented and discussed with us potential future 

projects. Important transactions approved by the Su-

pervisory Board are described in the combined man-

agement report for the Company and the Group. 

 

Personnel changes
The composition of the Supervisory Board remained un-

changed in the 2018 financial year. Dr Hans-Dieter Harig, 

Dr h. c. Michael Bärlein and Ms Michaela Schernikau 

were discharged by the Annual General Meeting on 11 

September 2018 for the 2017 financial year.

In January 2018, the Supervisory Board appointed 

Dennis Schwindt as a new member of the Management 

Board with immediate effect. As the Chief Operating Of-

ficer (COO), Mr Schwindt is responsible for commodity 

trading. He also continues to be responsible for the de-

velopment of special projects and the comanagement 

of foreign subsidiaries. Following his appointment, the 

HMS Bergbau AG Management Board has consisted 

of three members.

2018 annual financial statements 
The annual and consolidated financial statements of 

HMS Bergbau AG for the 2018 financial year were 

prepared in accordance with provisions of the Ger-

man Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB). 

The company’s auditor for the 2018 financial year, 

PANARES GmbH Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft 

Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Berlin, was appointed to 

audit the annual and consolidated financial statements 

of HMS Bergbau AG, as well as the combined manage-

Report of the Supervisory Board 
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ment report and the report of the Management Board 

on the relationships with associated companies in the 

2018 financial year.

The auditor reviewed the annual and consolidated finan-

cial statements of HMS Bergbau AG and the combined 

management report for the Company and the Group, 

including the accounting system, in accordance with 

German generally accepted standards for the audit of fi-

nancial statements promulgated by the Institute of Pub-

lic Auditors in Germany (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer – 

IDW) and issued unqualified audit opinions. The internal 

control system was also deemed to be effective.

All Supervisory Board members had access in due time 

to the annual and consolidated financial statements, the 

combined management report for the Company and 

the Group and the corresponding audit reports. The 

documents were reviewed and discussed in detail by 

the Supervisory Board at the meeting on 12 April 2019. 

Both the Management Board and auditor were pres-

ent at the meeting and provided detailed answers to all 

questions posed by the Supervisory Board. The auditor 

also reported on the key findings of the audit. Our own 

examination of the annual and consolidated financial 

statements, as well as the combined management re-

port for the Company and the Group, did not lead to any 

objections, and we approved the audit results. After its 

final review of all documents, the Supervisory Board did 

not raise any objections and approved the annual finan-

cial statements of HMS Bergbau AG as of 31 December 

2018 and the consolidated financial statements as of 

31 December 2018, as prepared by the Management 

Board, at its meeting on 12 April 2019. The 2018 an-

nual financial statements have therefore been adopted 

in accordance with Section 172 of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG).

On 12 April 2019, the Management Board proposed to 

carry the full amount of HMS Bergbau AG’s remaining 

unappropriated retained earnings of EUR 2,623,268.82 

forward to new account. We also examined and ap-

proved this proposal.

There were no conflicts of interest of members of the 

Supervisory Board during the reporting period. 

The Supervisory Board would like to thank the Man-

agement Board and all employees for their commitment 

and dedication in the 2018 financial year. 

Members of the Supervisory Board  
during the reporting period

▲	 Dr. Hans-Dieter Harig  
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

▲	 Dr. h.c. Michael Bärlein 
	 Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board

▲	 Michaela Schernikau 
	 Member of the Supervisory Board

Berlin, April 2019

Dr. Hans-Dieter Harig 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Investor Relations

Capital market development
After the 2017 trading year ended substantially high-

er, the year 2018 on the international stock markets 

proved to be very volatile and, in some cases, heavy 

losses. The stock markets in Europe, the US and in the 

emerging markets posted significant price declines, 

sometimes of more than 20 per cent. Despite the posi-

tive development of the stock market in the second and 

third quarters of 2018, steep losses, especially in the 

fourth quarter, were the main reason for the market‘s 

weaker overall performance.

The main cause of the high volatility was growing con-

cern about an imminent global recession and a sig-

nificant economic slowdown. 2018 was also another 

capital market year shaped by politics, with US Pres-

ident Donald Trump, in particular, causing consider-

able uncertainty. For the first time in the history of the 

Fed, a president tried to exert significant influence on 

the independent Federal Reserve (the Fed) by fiercely 

criticising the Fed as the „only problem“. In addition, 

the general sentiment on the capital markets was also 

brought down by Brexit, the budget dispute in Italy, the 

trade conflict between the US and China and the threat 

of a trade conflict between the US and the EU. The US 

government is expected to continue to cause uncer-

tainty for share prices in 2019 and even affect global 

economic development.

In the bond market, the low level of interest rates has 

been left virtually unchanged. The European Central 

Bank terminated its bond purchase programme – 

which has contributed around EUR 2.6 trillion in finan-

cial market support since 2015 – by the end of 2018 as 

planned, while at the same time maintaining its zero in-

terest rate policy. The ECB justifies continuing a „loose“ 

monetary policy by pointing to a core inflation rate 

(price increases excluding food and oil) in the eurozone 

that is too low. Experts do not expect any moderate 

hike in interest rates until the end of 2019 at the earliest.

The picture is different in the US. Here, the central bank 

has continued its strategy of successive interest rate 

hikes, at least in 2018, and has finally abandoned its 

expansionary monetary policy. Interest rates reached 

2.25 to 2.50 per cent as a result of the Fed‘s four inter-

est rate hikes alone in 2018. The Fed has announced 

its plans for two further interest rate hikes in 2019; 

although, it recently expressed its doubts about the 

country‘s economic momentum. The Fed is also sig-

nalling a more cautious monetary policy stance in the 

future and, at least in 2019, is moving away from its 

original plan to raise interest rates because it sees a 

sustained solid economy as a prerequisite for further 

interest rate increases.

Based on the above, the underlying conditions remain 

rather difficult for stock markets. In addition to the polit-

ical risks, a cyclical decline could place some additional 

pressure on the capital markets.

Global growth is strong but has peaked, according to 

the chief economist of the Organisation for Economic 

Co-operation and Development (OECD). The OECD 

expects global economic growth to slow only slight-

ly. Global economic output, in contrast, is expected to 

grow by 3.3 per cent and 3.4 per cent, respectively, in 

the next two years.

For the eurozone, the OECD lowered its forecast for 

2018 to 1.9 per cent and expects a further slowdown to 

1.0 per cent in 2019 and 1.4 per cent in 2020. The fore-

casts for Italy are below average, with a rise in gross 

domestic product of only 0.2 per cent in 2019, which 

would mark a recession, and 0.5 per cent in 2020.

Economic activity is also likely to be weaker in the Unit-

ed Kingdom than in the eurozone. Brexit-related un-

certainty is hampering economic growth. According to 

the OECD, growth in 2018 should reach 1.3 per cent. 

Growth in 2019 is forecast at 0.8 per cent and 0.9 per 

cent for the year 2020.

A slowdown in the economic cycle is predicted even in 

the US, the world‘s largest economy. Growth of 2.9 per 

cent is expected to be reported for 2018, followed by 

only 2.6 per cent and 2.2 per cent for the years 2019 

and 2020. The latest tax reform and favourable finan-

cial conditions mean that high corporate investments 
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are still anticipated in 2019 and 2020. According to 

the OECD, however, economic activity is expected to 

come under pressure from the weaker outlook for the 

global economy and the trade measures that have al-

ready been introduced.

Risks stem from the as yet unpredictable effects of 

Great Britain‘s exit from the EU, possible US trade re-

strictions, and a variety of other foreign policy conflicts 

worldwide.

The situation in the emerging markets is also difficult to 

assess. While the commodity-driven economies bene-

fitted more from the stabilisation in commodity prices 

in 2018, there is now a threat that the prospects for 

economic expansion are deteriorating again. The main 

cause of this is the increasing difficulty in attracting 

international capital. The most visible sign of a turn-

around among international investors is the pressure on 

emerging market currencies since the beginning of the 

year. At the same time, there are uncertainties, above 

all, in China due to steadily declining growth rates. 

Stock market development
The DAX index, Germany‘s most important stock mar-

ket index, fell from 12,917 points to 10,381 in 2018. 

Compared to the beginning of the year, this represents 

a significant loss of 19.63 per cent, marking the worst 

performance on the stock market since 2008. 

Performance of HMS shares versus  
DAX and the Bloomberg Commodity Index  
from the beginning of 2018 to the beginning of 2019
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HMS share price development
Large public companies belonging to major stock indi-

ces such as the DAX or EUROStoxx 50 continue to at-

tract great interest from investors and capital providers 

globally. Small caps have received far less attention in 

recent years – especially in Germany. For these com-

panies, an attractive equity story, a company‘s market 

capitalisation and high trading volume are particularly 

important. These factors usually have a significant im-

pact on a stock‘s price performance and valuation.

HMS shares escaped this trend once again. Compared 

to the DAX and the Bloomberg Commodity Index, the 

gratifying performance of HMS Bergbau shares con-

tinued in the 2018 trading year. Since the end of 2017, 

the shares have outperformed by a significant 40 to 50 

per cent.

HMS Bergbau AG share price
The HMS Bergbau AG share price increased from EUR 

13.68 on the last trading day of 2017 to EUR 18.00 at 

the end of the reporting period on 29 December 2018, 

representing a significant increase of more than 30 per 

cent. 

The market capitalisation of HMS Bergbau AG in-

creased from EUR 59.78 million at the end of 2017 to 

EUR 82.63 million at the end of the 2018 trading year, 

with HMS Bergbau shares performing very well overall. 
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Shareholder structure 
The share capital of HMS Bergbau AG as at 31 Decem-

ber 2018 consisted of 4,590,588 shares with a nominal 

value of EUR 1.00 each for a total of EUR 4,590,588.00. 

The Schernikau Family holds 74.4 per cent of the 

shares. A total of 3.6 per cent is held by HMS Bergbau 

AG as treasury shares, and 22.0 per cent is attributable 

to the free float.

Shareholder structure as at 31 December 2018 

74.4 %

22.0%

3.6 %
	Schernikau Family

	Free float

	Treasury Shares 

Source: HMS Bergbau AG

2018 Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting of HMS Bergbau AG was 

held on 11 September 2018 in Berlin. The agenda in-

cluded the proposed resolutions on the appropriation 

of unappropriated retained earnings, the discharge 

of the Management and Supervisory Boards and the 

election of the auditor. The Company‘s shareholders 

approved all of the proposed resolutions with almost 

100 per cent of the share capital represented at the 

Annual General Meeting.

Investor relations activities
In addition to the publication of financial reports, the 

Company‘s Management Board fully informs share-

holders about HMS Bergbau AG‘s development on 

a timely basis via capital market announcements. All 

capital market-relevant news is published in German 

and English, which exceeds the requirements of the 

stock exchange. In addition, the Management Board 

meets regularly with institutional investors, financial 

journalists and industry analysts to discuss the compa-

ny‘s business model and future prospects, as well as 

other capital market-related topics.
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Key share figures as at 31 December 2018

Basic information

ISIN/WKN DE0006061104/606110

Ticker symbol HMU

Bloomberg symbol HMU GY

Reuters symbol HMUG.DE

Market segment / transparency level Open Market / Basic Board 

Designated sponsor / listing partner ODDO BHF Aktiengesellschaft

Investor relations GFEI Aktiengesellschaft

Subscribed capital EUR 4,590,588.00

Number of shares 4,590,588

Free float 22.02 %

Performance data

Share price on 29/12/2017 (closing price on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) EUR 13.68 

Share price on 29/12/2018 (closing price on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange) EUR 18.00 

Market capitalisation on 29/12/2017 EUR 59,781,600

Market capitalisation on 29/12/2018 EUR 82,630,584
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Group management report 

HMS Bergbau AG, Berlin

Combined management report for the Group and the Company
Financial Year 2018

1. Overview  

The HMS Bergbau Group is a globally active group of 

companies that serve as trading and distribution part-

ners for renowned international electricity producers, 

cement manufacturers and industrial consumers with 

coal and energy raw materials such as steam coal, 

coking coal and coke products, as well as other raw 

materials such ore, cement, fertilisers and similar raw 

materials.

In 2018, HMS Bergbau AG continued its strategy to 

expand its business activities to include additional raw 

materials such as ore, metals, fertiliser and cement 

products and plans to develop into an international 

raw material trading company. The focus of its activi-

ties remains the coal business. HMS Bergbau AG’s has 

spent decades building its widely recognised expertise 

throughout the entire value chain from mining to logis-

tics to customer deliveries.

HMS Bergbau Group has built up an international 

network of long-term business partners and consist-

ently pursues its philosophy of building long-term and 

profitable business relationships with international pro-

ducers and consumers. The Group’s high degree of 

internationality is also a result of its subsidiaries HMS 

Bergbau Africa (Pty) Ltd., HMS Bergbau Singapore Pte 

Ltd. and PT. HMS Bergbau Indonesia. 

As at 31 December 2018, HMS Bergbau AG held 98.7 

per cent of the shares in its subsidiary Silesian Coal 

International Group of Companies S.A., Poland, which 

has already carried out geological surveys for the 

‘Orzesze’ area in Silesia. The current shareholding now 

equals 98.9 per cent.

To finance the operating activities of the Silesian Coal 

International Group of Companies S.A., HMS Bergbau 

AG had planned to sell up to 20 per cent of Silesian’s 

shares to Carbo Funding AG who, in turn, had planned 

to place a bond to gradually finance the purchase of 

the Silesian shares, a part of which has already been 

financed. After Carbo Funding AG’s unsatisfactory 

placement of the bond, HMS Bergbau AG exercised its 

right to reverse the agreement between Carbo Funding 

AG and HMS Bergbau AG. At present, the company 

is working on other measures to finance the project’s 

further development.

Drilling at Orzesze under HMS’s exclusive explora-

tion license revealed a potential 2.2 billion tonne coal 

deposit in-situ, of which around 672 million tonnes of 

high-grade coal were identified as recoverable under 

the JORC standard. Silesian Coal intends to develop 

the reserves using existing infrastructure and mine ap-

proximately 3 million tonnes of coal at low cost (about 

1/3 of the cost of a greenfield project) and start oper-

ations in a short period of time (within two and a half 

years after receiving the mining license). Production is 

planned to be split equally between high-margin cok-

ing coal and thermal coal. In the current financial year, 

HMS expects to receive the mining license, which en-

compasses an area of 20 km² in the historical coal min-

ing region of Katowice, Poland.

The corporate structure of the HMS Bergbau Group 

and its major subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 is 

as follows: 
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International Group of Companies S.A.

Berlin, Germany

Singapore

Jakarta, Indonesia

Johannesburg, South Afrika

Miami, USA (since 15 November 2018)

Katowice, Poland

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

98,7 %

HMS Bergbau AG is a performance-oriented and dy-

namic company as well as a major player in the interna-

tional coal trading business. Our strategy of observing 

long-term developments in global commodity markets 

without losing sight of current trends continues to be 

based on the following prerequisites: 

1.1 Price development  
Coal prices developed well overall in 2018, despite fluc-

tuating strongly all the way into August. Since mid-Au-

gust, there has been a sustained price increase to a 

level that, at times, has amounted to more than USD 

78/tonne. To effectively compensate for future market 

fluctuations, HMS Bergbau AG has the ability to op-

timise its added value by vertically integrating mining, 

handling and transportation taking into account current 

and future price increases. The Company is also ex-

panding into new export and import markets, as well 

as into other product categories.
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1.2 Market internationalisation
Commodity markets continue to converge as a result of 

international trade and improved logistics. At the same 

time, market transparency is increasing through the 

use of trading platforms and index-based trading ac-

tivities. Although these trends fuel higher competition, 

they also offer HMS Bergbau AG additional opportuni-

ties to expand its business into areas such as trading 

in other commodities. At the same time, HMS Bergbau 

AG is entering new markets. At the end of 2018, for 

example, a new subsidiary in the United States was 

founded and named HMS Bergbau USA Corp.

1.3 Vertical integration 
In order to extend our coverage of the value chain from 

mining to logistics and delivery to the customer and 

ensure our future security of supply as energy demand 

grows, it is essential that we invest in our own resourc-

es. Investments in exclusive marketing agreements 

make particular economic sense for HMS Bergbau AG.

Our long-term strategy of vertical integration is based 

on the following pillars: 

Strong trading business
The basis for our future growth and business success 

is the continued expansion of our trading activities with 

solid, long-term supplier and customer relationships 

and steady value contributions.

Growth  
Our aim is to sustainably increase our results through 

vertical integration and the accompanying competitive 

advantages in order to generate adequate growth. This 

specifically means expanding our international coal 

marketing activities in the South African coal market 

through a cooperation agreement with the Masingita 

Group. By signing the contract with Shumba Ener-

gy and gaining exclusive access to more than 2 bil-

lion tonnes of high-grade coal in southern Africa, the 

HMS Bergbau Group will be able to generate further 

growth. The HMS Bergbau Group is also opening up 

further growth opportunities through exclusive market-

ing rights in South Africa and neighbouring countries. 

HMS Bergbau also established a new subsidiary in 

the United States at the end of 2018 under the name 

HMS Bergbau USA Corp. This subsidiary was found-

ed in order to strengthen existing business contacts in 

North and South America, as well as to develop new 

business relationships. The management expects the 

first significant business activities in the current finan-

cial year.

Corporate culture
The everyday experience of a corporate culture char-

acterised by highly professional and ethical standards 

throughout the Group is a true advantage for HMS 

Bergbau Group in the competition for qualified inter-

national personnel who can drive forward our chosen 

strategy.

1.4 Horizontal integration
The expansion of global trading to include other com-

modities is intended to be yet another important pil-

lar for HMS Bergbau AG in the medium term. Steadily 

growing demand from our existing and new custom-

ers for various raw materials is expected to be satis-

fied by HMS Bergbau’s structures. The focus is placed 

on new markets – especially those in Asia, Africa and 

the Middle East – to continuously tap into and further 

develop existing as well as new sourcing markets for 

HMS Bergbau AG. This strategy based on horizontal 

integration was again consistently pursued in the 2018 

financial year. The existing network, the expertise ac-

quired over many years and proven transport options 

are used not only for the Company’s coal activities but 

also increasingly for other commodities and products 

such as ores, metals, cement products and petcoke. 

This strategy not only offers better utilisation of our 

existing capacities but also offers attractive opportu-

nities in terms of risk diversification and gross margins. 

In addition, the share of deliveries to non-power plant 

customers has steadily risen. In 2018, more than 80 per 

cent of deliveries were to industries that use coal or its 

ashes as materials. As a result, the option to substitute 

coal is limited, and the cement industry is taking on a 

dominant role in the customer portfolio. 
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2. Business and economic environment

2.1 Global economy 
World trade slowed down significantly in 2018, espe-

cially in the second half of the year when there was a 

noticeable decline in the global economy’s momentum. 

According to initial calculations, the global economy 

has also had a weak start to the year 2019.

According to the Institute for the World Economy (IfW), 

global economic growth in 2018 equalled 3.7 per cent. 

Global trade, which has picked up significantly since 

the end of 2016, has been in a slight downward trend 

since the second half of 2018. Political uncertainties 

such as trade conflicts emanating from the United 

States, the lack of clarity about the conditions of Brexit, 

as well as uncertainty about the extent of the economic 

slowdown in China are also weighing on the outlook.

The downturn in the global economy is expected to 

continue in the current year as well as in 2020. The 

IfW expects global economic growth of 3.3 per cent 

for both years.

Despite the slowdown in the pace of expansion, mac-

roeconomic capacity utilisation is likely to remain high, 

especially in the advanced economies. Experts even 

expect a further reduction in unemployment and, based 

on this, there is no pronounced economic weakness 

currently expected.

Economic trends are increasingly mixed among ad-

vanced economies. Important to note is the difference 

in the pace of expansion in 2018, which was still similar 

in most of the major economies in 2017. While gross 

domestic product in the United States rose sharply 

until just recently, economic growth in other countries 

slowed, particularly in the euro area and in Japan. 

These regions recorded an increase of merely 1.1 per 

cent and 0.3 per cent, respectively, in the fourth quarter 

compared to 2.7 per cent and 2.4 per cent respectively 

in the prior year. 

In contrast, GDP growth in the United States acceler-

ated from 2.5 per cent to 3.1 per cent over the same 

period.

Economic growth was positive in the advanced econo-

mies in 2018, although not as strong as in 2017. The IfW 

expects gross domestic product (GDP) to have risen by 

2.3 per cent in 2018, after 2.4 per cent in the previous 

year. In the US, GDP growth even saw a significant ac-

celeration from 2.4 per cent in the previous year to 2.9 

per cent in the reporting year. Growth slowed down 

in the European Union to 1.9 per cent in 2018, after 

2.5 per cent in the previous year. In the euro area as 

a whole, last year’s GDP increase reached a mere 1.8 

per cent according to Eurostat, after a notable 2.4 per 

cent in 2017, which had marked the highest increase 

in 10 years.

In the years ahead, the IMF forecasts slower produc-

tion growth in the advanced economies compared to 

the level of potential production in 2018. At the same 

time, the environment will be characterised by accom-

modative monetary policy and faltering fiscal stimulus.

Despite the relatively high level of capacity utilisation, 

experts anticipate moderate increases in econom-

ic growth in the next two years, with forecasts of 1.7 

per cent for 2019 and 2020, respectively. Production 

growth is also unlikely to be as high in the United States 

as it was in 2018. Nevertheless, the economy is ex-

pected to grow 2.1 per cent and 1.8 per cent in the 

US in 2019 and 2020, respectively. The eurozone is 

projected to see a significant slowdown in economic 

growth. The IfW expects growth rates of 1.2 per cent 

in 2019 and 1.5 per cent in 2020. In the UK, Brexit will 

lead to slower growth of 0.8 per cent in 2019 and 1.0 

per cent in 2020.

Germany also recorded growth again in 2018, albeit at 

a more moderate level. The Federal Statistical Office 

calculated a 1.5 per cent increase in gross domestic 

product, signifying the ninth consecutive year of growth 

for the German economy. At the same time, however, 

momentum slowed. 

In a ten-year comparison, growth in 2018 was almost 

1.2 per cent above the average. In addition to private 

and public consumption, the construction sector and 

rising investments contributed to the increase.
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Growth is expected to continue in the current year in 

Germany but with a slowdown in economic output. The 

OECD forecasts growth of only 0.7 per cent in 2019 

and 1.1 per cent in 2020.

The expansion in the emerging economies faltered in 

2018. Monetary policy tightening in the US caused a 

reversal in capital flows which, in turn, led to a hike in 

interest rates. This reversal even led to an economic 

crisis in both Turkey and Argentina.

GDP in the emerging economies increased by 5.1 

per cent overall in 2018, following 5.2 per cent in the 

previous year. In the years ahead, the IfW expects a 

slower expansion in economic output than in the two 

prior years. This is primarily due to the deterioration in 

financial conditions and the more difficult access to in-

ternational capital that resulted.

In China, the largest emerging market economy, eco-

nomic growth slowed only marginally to 6.6 per cent 

following 6.8 per cent in 2017, despite a withdrawal in 

monetary incentives. China is still expected to coun-

teract the economic slowdown with expansionary 

economic policies. The experts at IfW are forecasting 

growth of 6.1 per cent in China in 2019 and 5.8 per 

cent in 2020. Despite lower growth rates, China will 

still make a significant contribution to global economic 

growth. 

Economic policy risks
The economic outlook for the years ahead is deter-

mined by very different and partly overlapping influenc-

es, causing economic uncertainty. Against the back-

drop of a global economic slowdown, political risks are 

having an impact on investment and consumer deci-

sions. Although the direct impact of the trade disputes 

between the US and China and the US and the EU has 

not yet been severe, this could change significantly as 

tariffs expand. Generally, if the US continues to try to 

accomplish its goals using economic sanctions, it will 

increase the planning uncertainty among the econom-

ic players. The still uncoordinated Brexit, whose formal 

cut-off date was 29 March 2019, also continues to be a 

burden. An unregulated exit of the UK would have both 

a direct and an indirect dampening effect on trade and 

on the industries affected. A positive impact on global 

economic development should continue to come from 

the somewhat neutral to expansive monetary and fiscal 

policies in many countries.

2.2 Commodities
On average, commodity prices rose by 24 per cent in 

2018 compared to 2017; energy commodities rose by 

28 per cent and industrial commodities by 6 per cent. 

Prices for food and luxury food commodities, in con-

tract, fell by 5 per cent.

2.3 General development of the capital markets
After the 2017 trading year ended substantially high-

er, the year 2018 on the international stock markets 

proved to be very volatile and, in some cases, heavy 

losses. The stock markets in Europe, the US and in the 

emerging markets posted significant price declines, 

sometimes of more than 20 per cent. Despite the posi-

tive development of the stock market in the second and 

third quarters of 2018, steep losses, especially in the 

fourth quarter, were the main reason for the market’s 

weaker overall performance.

The main cause of the high volatility was growing con-

cern about an imminent global recession and a sig-

nificant economic slowdown. 2018 was also another 

capital market year shaped by politics, with US Pres-

ident Donald Trump, in particular, causing considera-

ble uncertainty. For the first time in the history of the 

Fed, a president tried to exert significant influence on 

the independent Federal Reserve (the Fed) by fiercely 

criticising the Fed as the „only problem“. In addition, 

the general sentiment on the capital markets was also 

brought down by Brexit, the budget dispute in Italy, the 

trade conflict between the US and China and the threat 

of a trade conflict between the US and the EU. The US 

government is expected to continue to cause uncer-

tainty for share prices in 2019 and even affect global 

economic development.

In the bond market, the low level of interest rates has 

been left virtually unchanged. The European Central 

Bank terminated its bond purchase programme – 

which has contributed around EUR 2.6 trillion in finan-

cial market support since 2015 – by the end of 2018 as 

planned, while at the same time maintaining its zero in-

terest rate policy. The ECB justifies continuing a „loose“ 

monetary policy by pointing to a core inflation rate 

(price increases excluding food and oil) in the eurozone 
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that is too low. Experts do not expect any moderate 

hike in interest rates until the end of 2019 at the earliest.

The picture is different in the US. Here, the central bank 

has continued its strategy of successive interest rate 

hikes, at least in 2018, and has finally abandoned its 

expansionary monetary policy. Interest rates reached 

2.25 to 2.50 per cent as a result of the Fed’s four inter-

est rate hikes alone in 2018. The Fed has announced 

its plans for two further interest rate hikes in 2019; 

although, it recently expressed its doubts about the 

country’s economic momentum. The Fed is also sig-

nalling a more cautious monetary policy stance in the 

future and, at least in 2019, is moving away from its 

original plan to raise interest rates because it sees a 

sustained solid economy as a prerequisite for further 

interest rate increases.

Based on the above, the underlying conditions remain 

rather difficult for stock markets. In addition to the polit-

ical risks, a cyclical decline could place some additional 

pressure on the capital markets.

2.4 Global primary energy consumption 
The global increase in the trade of goods and steadily 

increasing production have led to a sharp increase in 

global energy consumption. In the last four decades 

alone, consumption has more than doubled. Next to 

a change in the absolute consumption of the respec-

tive energy sources, the energy mix has also changed, 

among others, due to an increase in renewable ener-

gies.

The International Energy Agency is forecasting an in-

crease in demand for primary energy by 2060 of about 

twice the current value to a total of over 320,000 billion 

kWh. These forecasts are based on the assumption 

that, by that time, the standard of living in emerging and 

developing countries will have adjusted to the level of 

the western industrial nations. According to experts at 

the World Energy Outlook, energy consumption in Af-

rica, India, China, Southeast Asia and the Middle East 

should increase 30 per cent by 2040.

According to the 2019 BP Energy Outlook, global pri-

mary energy consumption will increase on average by 

just 1.2 per cent p.a. over the next 20 years compared 

to 2.0 per cent in the period from 1998 to 2018. The 

increase in energy consumption is closely linked to 

the increase in global economic output. Energy-sav-

ing measures, however, have been causing the rise in 

energy consumption to lag the rise in the economy for 

the past few years. For example, global gross domestic 

product is expected to double by 2040, while energy 

consumption is projected to increase by just one-third. 

The emerging markets – particularly China and India – 

will be driving future growth. China will initially remain 

the largest growth market for energy, with India expect-

ed to take its place by the end of the forecast period 

in 2040.

The current BP Energy Outlook assumes that the share 

of renewables will increase rapidly over the next 20 

years from today’s 4 per cent to roughly 15 per cent, 

and together with natural gas will make up around 85 

per cent of the increase over the next few years. De-

spite this increase, oil, gas and coal will remain the 

dominant energy sources. The share of fossil energy 

sources is anticipated to fall from around 85 per cent 

in 2018 to around 75 per cent in 2040, albeit from a 

sharply higher base. As gas continues to grow at a rate 

of around 1.7 per cent, growth in oil and coal will come 

to a standstill. 

According to BP’s study, global coal consumption will 

remain virtually unchanged. In the mid-2020s con-

sumption is expected to peak and then decline slightly 

(-0.1 per cent) until 2040. Over the last 20 years, coal 

consumption has increased by 2.7 per cent, making 

gas the second most important source of energy after 

oil by 2040. It is predicted that coal will drop to third 

place as a primary source of energy but will continue 

to rank first in terms of electricity generation. The slight 

decline in coal can be attributed to the rise in the use 

of other energy sources in China. Nevertheless, China 

remains the most important market for coal and will 

consume almost half of this resource in 2040.

Coal will continue to be a low-cost resource worldwide. 

The decline in coal demand in the developed world is 

offset by higher demand in emerging economies such 

as China or India. While the share of coal as a prima-

ry energy source is anticipated to decline from 27 per 

cent in 2017 to around 21 per cent in 2040, in absolute 

terms, its use will remain roughly the same due to rising 

demand for energy. 
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Source: BP Energy Outlook 2019, HMS Bergbau AG
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2.5 Energy consumption in Germany 
According to calculations by the Working Group on 

Energy Balances (Arbeitsgemeinschaft Energiebilan-

zen – AGEB), energy consumption in 2018 fell by 5 per 

cent year-on-year to 12,900 petajoules (PJ) or 440.2 

million tonnes of coal equivalent (million tce), which is 

the lowest level since the early 1970s. While consump-

tion declined across all fossil fuels, renewable energies 

recorded growth. Based on this, the AGEB expects a 

decline in energy-related CO2 emissions in the order 

of 6 per cent. Experts believe that lower energy con-

sumption in Germany is primarily due to higher prices, 

mild weather and improvements in energy efficiency.

Consumption of mineral oil decreased by 5.6 per 

cent in 2018, with the sharpest decline recorded in the 

sales of heating oil. Petrol and diesel fuel declined only 

slightly, while sales of aviation fuel increased.

Natural gas consumption in Germany in 2018 also 

declined and dropped by a total of 7.3 per cent. Af-

ter the cold weather in the first quarter caused a clear 

rise in consumption, warmer temperatures over the 

course of the year led to declines in consumption in 

the heating market. A further decline in consumption 

for the year as a whole resulted from the continued rise 

in power generated from renewable energies and price 

developments.

Consumption of hard coal fell by 11.2 per cent in Ger-

many in 2018. The decline in the consumption of hard 

coal for power and heat generation in power stations 

was particularly strong and fell by more than 16 per 

cent. Both the increase in power generation from re-

newable energies and the increase in fuel costs – es-

pecially CO2 prices – contributed to the decline. The 

consumption of coke and coking coal in the German 

steel industry was below the level of the previous year.

The consumption of lignite fell by 1.9 per cent in 2018, 

due to a decline in power generation from lignite. By 

2020, the use of lignite for power generation will de-

crease by 13 per cent compared to 2015 as a result of 

transitioning the power stations to standby mode as 

back-up.

Nuclear energy saw a slight decline in electricity gen-

eration of 0.3 per cent compared to the previous year.

Renewable energies increased their contribution to 

total energy consumption in 2018 by a total of 2.1 per 

cent. Wind power increased by 7 per cent, solar ener-

gy grew 16 per cent, biomass remained flat, whereas 

hydropower declined 16 per cent.

The share of different energy sources in the domestic 

energy mix continued to shift in 2018. Despite renew-

able energies increasing their contribution to 14 per 

cent, the domestic energy was still characterised by a 

broad energy mix. Just under 58 per cent of German 

energy consumption could be attributed to oil and gas. 

Hard coal and lignite together comprised just over one-

fifth of consumption. 

2.6 Development of crude oil prices
Oil prices fell sharply from mid-2014 to early 2016. 

Grades such as WTI and Brent reached lows of just 

over USD 30 a barrel in early 2016, representing a price 

decline of around 70 per cent. Since that time, a trend 

reversal with significant price fluctuations can be seen 

and, in 2018 alone, there were sharp fluctuations in 

prices between USD 52 and USD 85 per barrel. At the 

end of 2018, the price of Brent was just under USD 55 

per barrel.

The price of oil developed favourably in 2018 until Oc-

tober. While Brent per barrel (= 159 litres) had cost just 

under USD 66.42 at the beginning of the year, the peak 

price in early October reached USD 85.51, marking an 

increase of nearly 29 per cent. As of the beginning of 

October 2018, however, the massive increase in US oil 

production and dampened economic forecasts led to 

an oversupply that caused oil prices to fall sharply. De-

spite the broadly adhered to cut in production agreed 

to by Russia and OPEC at the end of 2017, prices still 

fell around 17.8 per cent in 2018 ending the year at USD 

52.21 per barrel. A further 1.2 million barrel per day 

reduction by OPEC helped oil prices return to around 

USD 65 in the first quarter of 2019. 
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Primary energy consumption in Germany in 2018 vs. 2017 
Development of primary energy consumption in Germany in 2018 – changes in per cent

Source: Working Group on Energy Balances (Arbeitsgemeinschaft Energiebilanzen e.V.), HMS Bergbau AG
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2.7 Development in the  
energy consumption of coal
Global energy consumption has grown considerably 

over the past 150 years. As early as the 19th centu-

ry, coal was already traded as a major energy source 

and gained importance alongside natural gas and oil. 

Today, more than 85 per cent of global primary ener-

gy use is generated by fossil fuels. While energy use is 

becoming increasingly efficient, economic growth and 

consumption increases are hindering a decline in con-

sumption.

After a two-year decline in global coal consumption, 

coal demand increased by one per cent in 2017. In the 

electricity sector alone, production increased by 250 

billion kWh (+3 per cent). As a result, coal accounted for 

38 per cent of the world’s electricity mix, compared to 

the years before when consumption was declining. Pre-

liminary data from the International Energy Agency (IEA) 

indicate a further increase for 2018. According to the 

IEA, this development is mainly caused by the electrici-

ty markets in China and India. China remains the largest 

coal consumer, producer and importer, accounting for 

just under 50 per cent of consumption.

Looking ahead to the next five years, the IEA also ex-

pects stable consumption. Declines in Europe and 

North America are expected to be offset by growth 

in India and Southeast Asia. The share of coal in the 

global energy mix in 2017 was still around 27 per cent. 

Moreover, at an estimated 25 per cent, this is unlikely to 

change by 2023. In absolute terms, coal consumption 

should continue to increase. The share of coal for pow-

er generation is estimated to be around 40 per cent. 

India is expected to remain the country with the largest 

increase, even though the growth rate of 3.9 per cent 

per year is probably slowing somewhat thanks to new 

power plant technology and renewables expansion. 

The IEA also classifies Indonesia, Vietnam, the Philip-

pines, Malaysia and Pakistan as countries with signifi-

cant increases in coal consumption.

The uneven trend towards less coal continues world-

wide and in Europe. While Western Europe is nearing 

an exit from coal motivated by the expansion of renew-

ables and concerns about climate protection, most 

Eastern European countries have not yet planned to 

phase out coal. In Eastern Europe, lignite still remains a 

cornerstone of the electricity system.

Another example of the long-term use of coal for elec-

tricity generation is India. Currently, 25 per cent of In-

dia’s population, or 300 million people, have no access 

to electricity. This number is significantly higher than in 

any other developing country except Nigeria, where to-

day about 50 per cent of the population lives without 

electricity. India intends to provide each citizen with ac-

cess to electricity by 2022. This ambitious target is ex-

pected to raise coal demand for power generation and 

industry to such a great extent that, by 2040, India will 

represent the largest increase in demand for coal by far 

and coal will comprise half of the country’s energy mix.

Aside from India, Indonesia, Brazil, the Middle East and 

China are also expecting sharp increases in energy de-

mand. Experts are therefore estimating that world en-

ergy consumption will increase by one-third by 2040. 

The IEA expects demand for coal in all OECD countries 

to decline until 2025. Demand for coal, in contrast, is 

expected to rise in all non-OECD countries.  

2.8 Coal prices
According to the preliminary calculations of the German 

Association of Coal Importers e. V., world trade in hard 

coal in 2018 increased by 3.7 per cent to 1,202 million 

tonnes. The global production of hard coal increased 

by 1.7 per cent to 7.1 billion tonnes. Production in India 

alone increased by 54 million tonnes or 8.2 per cent to 

714 million tonnes. After a rise in 2017, production and 

world trade in 2018 increased again significantly. Sea-

borne exports increased in all of the major exporting 

countries of Australia, Indonesia, Russia and the US. 

South Africa, once a major supplier to Europe, now 

supplies mainly Asian countries. 

The major production countries of China and India are 

also large consumers of imported coal and an import-

ant pillar of global hard coal trade. The increase in world 

trade in hard coal is also attributable to the growing de-

mand in Southeast Asia.

The decline in production in 2016 was mainly caused 

by the difficult situation in the US with a series of bank-

ruptcies and the closure of unsafe mines in the People’s 

Republic of China. In both countries, however, growth 

was again recorded in 2017, in the US by 7 per cent and 

in China by 2 per cent. India also saw a strong increase 

of 3.2 per cent.
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Source: Argus Overview 2018/19, HMS Bergbau AG
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The increase in the world trade of hard coal in 2017 and 

2018 was due primarily to the growing demand in the 

ASEAN countries, which in turn was driven by growing 

demand in the manufacturing sector. The construction 

of modern coal-fired power plants and growing steel 

production lead to additional demand for coke and 

steam coal. The model of development in these coun-

tries is similar to that of China and is based on hard coal 

and will only extend to renewable energy sources after 

a certain time.

In contrast to the global trend, German hard coal im-

ports in 2018 fell sharply by roughly 13 per cent or 7 

million tonnes. While imports of coking coal decreased 

by 5 per cent, imports of steam coal fell by 17 per cent. 

The reason for these declines is the increase in power 

generation from renewable energy sources and fiercer 

competition with natural gas following the significant in-

crease in the price of CO2.

According to the Association of Coal Importers (VDKi), 

development in the international coal market continues 

to be largely determined by China and India. World coal 

production increased by 2.7 per cent in 2017. 

A key factor that drove the sharp rise in coal consump-

tion in the reporting year was the development in China 

(+70 million tonnes) and in the US (+42 million tonnes). 

These two countries were largely responsible for the de-

cline in global coal production in 2016. It is also import-

ant to note that there are increasing incentives in coun-

tries that play an essential role in the maritime transport 

of hard coal. Coal mining also increased in Russia (+24 

million tonnes), Indonesia (+13 million tonnes) and Aus-

tralia (+7 million tonnes). Australia, Indonesia, Russia 

and the USA are major pillars of the global coal trade. 

The increase in production of these countries shows 

that there are still countries with growing coal demand. 

While China and India produce a significant portion of 

their own demand (India 2017: +21 million tonnes) and 

import significant quantities from the world coal market, 

there are a number of ASEAN countries whose demand 

is growing in the world coal market for the supply of 

new coal-fired power plants.

The largest coal exporters in 2017 were Australia (372 

million tonnes), Indonesia (318 million tonnes) and Rus-

sia (163 million tonnes), followed some distance later 

by Colombia (86 million tonnes), South Africa and Rus-

sia (83 million tonnes each). According to the German 

Association of Coal Importers (VDKi), coal produc-

tion in Germany fell from 3.9 million tonnes to 3.6 mil-

lion tonnes. Imports in 2017 amounted to 48.5 million 

tonnes, compared to 53.6 million tonnes in 2016.

After coal prices fell below USD 50 per tonne in 2016, 

the two major carbon price indices – Coal API 2 and 

API 4 – rose sharply in 2017 and 2018 and reached a 

level of USD 86.18 (API 2) and USD 96.87 (API 4) at the 

end of 2018. The price trend from 2017 initially contin-

ued into 2018 until a price correction in March occurred 

that brought down the API 2 to USD 76.25 and the API 

4 to USD 89.32. Coal prices then rebounded to over 

USD 100/tonne.

Only with the emergence of global economic concerns 

in October 2018 did coal prices return to USD 86.18 

(API 2) and USD 96.87 (API 4), ultimately ending the 

year below their levels at the start of the year of USD 

95.83 (API 2) and USD 94.48 (API 4).
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2.9 Trading
Trusting, stable business relationships with customers 

and suppliers form the basis of the successful inter-

national trading activities of the HMS Bergbau Group.

The main customers of the HMS Bergbau Group in-

clude power plant companies, steel and cement 

producers, as well as industrial companies such as 

glassworks, paper mills and waste processing plants. 

Our customer base consists of both private and state-

owned companies from Asia, Europe, the Middle East 

and Africa.

The HMS Bergbau Group cooperates with renowned 

and reliable producers mainly in Indonesia, South Af-

rica, Russia, Poland, and North and South America. 

In addition, we are responsible for the representation 

of numerous international coal producers. The HMS 

Bergbau Group handles the complete marketing of 

coal in selected markets. 

2.10 Logistics business unit 
The HMS Bergbau Group offers its customers and 

business partners a complete range of services from 

the timely supply of raw materials to organising the 

entire transport logistics. The service portfolio of our 

highly professional and experienced team ranges from 

the chartering of ships, the organisation of inland trans-

portation, port handling, warehouse management, as 

well as coal preparation, all the way up to technical 

monitoring, as required. 

For example, the HMS Group organises all of the logis-

tics needs – from truck transport to rail transport and 

port handling – for its partners in South Africa thereby 

providing a high degree of delivery reliability to its sup-

pliers and customers.

2.11 Research and development
HMS Bergbau AG does not engage in research and 

development.

2.12 Sustainability
Megatrends such as energy efficiency, climate change 

and globalisation are changing the way almost all 

services and industries are thinking worldwide and 

prompting a change in their actions. The energy sector 

is also constantly working on new and more efficient 

energy generation systems that are also expected to 

produce the lowest amount of emissions possible. At 

the top of the agenda is the general supply of energy to 

a globally increasing population, as well as the storage 

of energy, which should lead to a steady supply. Ac-

cording to leading institutes for energy analysis, these 

two objectives are can only be achieved through a mix 

of renewable and fossil fuels, such as coal. At the same 

time, the steadily increasing awareness of sustainable 

energy supply and generation is leading to a change 

in business processes and practices. Ultimately, these 

global megatrends will lead to a lasting change in work-

ing and trading conditions within value-added chains. 

HMS Bergbau AG has also started to reduce its global 

footprint in recent years. In the context of know-your-
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client processes, HMS Bergbau AG tries, for example, 

to have an influence on motivating its trading partners 

to also operate sustainably. Corresponding clauses are 

to be included in future business contracts in order to 

comply with key environmental legislation and to avoid 

an impact on the environment. At the same time, HMS 

Bergbau AG trading partners are required to check 

their suppliers and enforce similar standards. Still to-

day, customers are given advice in official meetings on 

how to improve their efficiency. By implementing the 

suggestions made by HMS Bergbau AG, partners can 

reduce their negative environmental impact and in-

crease efficiency. As part of its business model, HMS 

Bergbau AG has always maintained direct customer 

relations in Europe, Africa, America and Asia, which is 

helpful in initiating these types of consultations.

HMS Bergbau AG firmly believes that the Group’s tar-

geted growth can go hand-in-hand with sustainable 

and environmentally friendly production and sales pro-

cesses. Maintaining a sustainable approach in which 

people, the environment and economic success are in 

balance, is an important and long-term success factor 

for HMS Bergbau AG.

2.13 Employees
International competition for qualified employees re-

mains high. In its pursuit of long-term employment 

relationships between staff and the HMS Group, man-

agement continues to focus on ongoing employee de-

velopment, together with highly specialised and con-

tinuing training. In keeping with this strategy, we have 

hired additional employees, particularly in the Asian 

and South African markets, and are planning to con-

tinue hiring. Risks resulting from employee fluctuation 

are mitigated by succession and substitute planning. 

We also conducted training for employees, particular-

ly new employees. To offer our employees incentives, 

we have an employee option programme. Among oth-

er things, it allows employees to purchase their own 

shares held by the company at an advantageous price 

by converting their income.
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3. Group results of operations

The results of operations of the HMS Group in the 2018 financial year compared to the previous year were as 

follows:
31/12/2018  

EUR  
thousand %

31/12/2017  
EUR  

thousand %

Change
EUR 

thousand %

Total performance 254,204 100 220,971 100 33,233 15

Cost of materials 246,910 97 213,549 97 33,361 16

Personnel costs 2,048 1 1,659 1 389 23

Depreciation and amortisation 93 0 115 0 -23 -20

Other operating expenses 

./. other operating earnings 4,034 2 3,717 2 317 9

Taxes (excluding income taxes) 4 0 4 0 0 6

Tax expenses 253,089 100 219,045 99 34,045 16

Operating result 1,114 0 1,926 1 -812 -42

Earnings from investment and financial result -684 -2,579 1,894 74

Sale of shares 1,098 185 913 > 100

Allocation to pension provisions  
(1/15 of allocation under German Accounting 
Law Modernisation Act [BilMoG])

-223 -223 0 0

Earnings before income taxes 1,305 -690 1,996 > 100

Income taxes 148 1,410 -1,262 -90

Net profit* 1,453 720 733 > 100

*2,333,449.92 EUR 2018 net profit excluding 880,521.39 EUR non-cash pension provisions (2017: 727,735.62 EUR pension provisions)

Sales were characterised by the strong trading busi-

ness in Asia and the rise in coal prices over the course 

of 2018, but also by increased tonnage. At around 

92 per cent, the majority of the volume traded by the 

Group was once again in Asia and Africa. In 2017, it 

was more than 90 per cent. The cost of materials ra-

tio deteriorated slightly compared to the previous year 

and amounted to 97.1 per cent in the reporting period 

after 96.6 per cent in 2017.

Personnel costs increased slightly over the previous 

year, rising from EUR 1,659 thousand to EUR 2,048 

thousand, as the personnel in the departments of 

Trading and Operations in Asia and Africa, among 

others, were also expanded in the year 2018. Never-

theless, the personnel cost ratio remained essentially 

unchanged at around 1 per cent 

Depreciation and amortisation fell slightly in the 2018 

reporting period to EUR 93 thousand after a level of 

EUR 115 thousand in the 2017 financial year.

Other expenses net of other income result specifically 

from legal and consulting fees, vehicle and travel costs, 

fulfilment costs, occupancy costs and 1/15th of the al-

location to pension provisions. In the year 2018, mar-

ginal improvements were realised in the expense ratio 

compared to the previous year.

The sale of a 1.1 per cent interest in the Polish sub-

sidiary Silesian Coal International Group of Companies 

S.A. resulted in the recognition of a gain of EUR 1,098 

thousand through profit or loss.
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4. Group net assets 

The net assets of HMS Group compared to the previous year were as follows:

31/12/2018  
EUR  

thousand %

31/12/2017  
EUR  

thousand %

Change
EUR  

thousand %

Assets

Non-current assets 15,110 26 12,175 26 2,935 24

Inventories 116 0 129 0 -13 -10

Receivables 39,162 66 30,163 65 8,999 30

Cash and cash equivalents 1,614 3 347 1 1,268 > 100

Other assets 3,127 5 3,340 7 -213 -6

59,129 100 46,154 100 12,975 28

Capital       

Shareholders’ equity 10,845 18 5,872 13 4,973 85

Own shares -1,345 -2 -1,345 -3 0 0

Non-current liabilities 7,090 12 6,209 14 881 14

Current liabilities 42,538 72 35,416 77 7,122 20

59,129 100 46,154 100 12,975 28

The increase in non-current assets in 2018 mainly 

resulted from a rise in non-current financial assets of 

EUR 2,074 thousand and a further investment of EUR 

983 thousand in the development of the ‘Orzesze’ hard 

coal area by the Silesian Coal International Group of 

Companies S.A. The receivables result from deliver-

ies and services and are primarily against customers 

in Asia. The build-up compared to the previous year is 

largely due to volume and reporting date effects. 

Non-current liabilities include pension obligations. The 

changes are due to actuarial reasons. Current liabilities 

mainly consist of liabilities to suppliers and from trade 

financing. The year-on-year increase is a result of the 

upturn in business activity and essentially due to re-

porting date effects.
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*2.475.134,97 EUR 2018 net profit excluding 880,521.39 EUR non-cash pension provisions (2017: 727,735.62 EUR pension provisions)

5. Group financial position 

Cash and cash equivalents developed as follows in the 2018 financial year:

2018
TEUR

2017
TEUR

1. Cash flow from current operating activities 5,746 -3,748

2. Cash flow from investment activities -1,856 -846

3. Cash flow from financing activities 846 34

4. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   

Change in cash and cash equivalents affecting payment 4,737 -4,561

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period -8,906 -4,345

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period -4,169 -8,906

5. Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 1,614 347

Current liabilities to credit institutions -5,783 -9,253

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period -4,169 -8,906

Due to the significant improvement in the net profit for 

the period and the increase in trade payables as at the 

reporting date, cash flow from operating activities im-

proved considerably compared to the prior year. Cash 

flow from investing activities is derived primarily from 

investments in the development of the ‘Orzesze’ coal 

field by the Silesian Coal International Group of Com-

panies S.A., as well as investments in associated com-

panies. Cash flow from financing activities was largely 

a result of the assumption of a long-term bank loan. 
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2018  
EUR 

thousand %

2017  
EUR 

thousand %

Change
EUR 

thousand %

Revenue (= Total performance) 190,996 100 152,589 100 38,407 25

Cost of materials 185,800 97 146,453 96 39,347 27

Personnel costs 1,375 1 891 2 484 54

Depreciation and amortisation 27 0 33 0 -6 -18

Other operating expenses 

./. other operating earnings 3,053 2 4,087 0 -1,034 -25

Taxes (excluding income taxes) 4 0 3 0 1 19

Tax expenses 190,258 100 151,466 98 38,792 26

Operating result 738 0 1,123 2 -385 -34

Earnings from investment and financial result -293 -2,145 1,852 86

Sale of shares 1,098 185 913 > 100

Allocation to pension provisions  
(1/15 of allocation under German Accounting Law 
Modernisation Act [BilMoG])

-223 -223 0 0

Earnings before income taxes 1,319 -1,060 1,467 > 100

Income taxes 275 1,618 -1,343 -83

Net profit* 1,595 558 1,037 > 100

6.1 Results of operations 
The results of operations of HMS Bergbau AG are sig-

nificantly influenced by the Company’s primary trading 

activities. The sharp increase in sales is due to an in-

crease in volumes and higher coal prices in 2018. The 

markets in Asia and Africa, which are developing with 

increasing demand, are being served by HMS Bergbau 

AG in addition to the local companies. More than 92 per 

cent of sales were generated with customer and supply 

relationships from Africa and Asia. The cost of materi-

als ratio deteriorated slightly year-on-year by around 1 

per cent due to high-volume transactions. Other oper-

ating expenses net of other earnings income resulted 

in particular from fulfilment costs, onward charging of 

other services of group companies, vehicle and travel 

expenses, legal and consulting fees as well as 1/15th 

of the allocation to pension provisions (EUR 223 thou-

sand).

The sale of a 1.1 per cent interest in the Polish sub-

sidiary Silesian Coal International Group of Companies 

S.A. resulted in the recognition of a gain of EUR 1,098 

thousand through profit or loss.

6. Information on the annual financial statements of HMS Bergbau AG 

HMS Bergbau AG is the parent company of the HMS 

Group. HMS Bergbau AG remains responsible for the 

central management functions – strategy, finance, ac-

counting/controlling – and all key trading activities. A 

significant number of trade agreements are conducted 

via the parent company. In other words, the activities of 

HMS Bergbau AG largely determine the situation of the 

entire HMS Group. 

The annual financial statements of HMS Bergbau AG are prepared in accordance with German Commercial Law 

(HGB) and the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The following table provides an overview:

*2,333,449.92 EUR 2018 net profit excluding 880,521.39 EUR non-cash pension provisions (2017: 727,735.62 EUR pension provisions)
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The increase in fixed assets in 2018 was mainly a re-

sult of the increase in non-current advances. Due to 

the trading activities of HMS Bergbau AG, the balance 

sheet structure is characterised by receivables from 

customers and current trade payables. Changes are 

mainly a result of volume and reporting date effects. In 

addition, the financial position is characterised by the 

shares in affiliated companies and loans to the Indo-

nesian and African HMS companies. Current liabilities 

mainly consist of liabilities to suppliers and from trade 

financing. 

Non-current liabilities include pension obligations. The 

year-on-year increase as of the balance sheet date of 

31 December 2018 is based on actuarial effects. 

6.3 Financial position 
The financial position of the HMS Group is significantly 

influenced by HMS Bergbau AG and, therefore, we refer 

you to our corresponding explanations. 

6.4. General statement 
Sales, gross margin and EBITDA represent our financial 

performance indicators, which the Board of Manage-

ment controls and monitors on an ongoing basis. In re-

lation to the entire HMS Group, we were able to achieve 

and partially even exceed the sales forecast made in 

the previous year due to the market environment and 

the excellent trading results. Sales amounted to EUR 

254,204 thousand in the 2018 financial year after EUR 

220,971 thousand in 2017 and were not only price and 

volume-driven. Sales of HMS AG also increased signifi-

cantly from EUR 152,589 thousand in the 2017 financial 

year to EUR 190,996 thousand in the reporting year. The 

Group’s gross margin fell slightly from 3.8 per cent in 

2017 to 3.5 per cent in 2018. The gross margin of HMS 

AG also fell from 4.4 per cent to 3.5 per cent. 

Group EBITDA of EUR 2,086 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 2,007 thousand) improved slightly compared to the 

previous year. Despite significantly higher sales, EBITDA 

increased only slightly due to the higher cost of materials 

ratio. The EBITDA of HMS AG amounted to EUR 1,643 

thousand after EUR 1,121 thousand in the year 2017. 

Here, too, the reason for the increase can be found in 

the significant increase in sales. Overall, we were able to 

fully achieve the forecast target at the Group level.

31/12/2018
EUR 

thousand %

31/12/2017
EUR 

thousand %

Change
EUR

thousand %

Assets

Non-current assets 16,129 34 14,876 22 1,253 8

Receivables 27,170 58 24,832 62 2,338 9

Cash and cash equivalents 1,256 3 91 2 1,165 > 100

Other assets 2,616 6 2,845 15 -229 -8

47,172 100 42,645 100 4,527 11

Capital

Shareholders’ equity 15,753 33 10,462 39 5,291 51

Own shares -1,345 -3 -1,345 -10 0 0

Non-current liabilities 7,090 15 6,209 17 881 14

Current liabilities 25,673 54 27,318 54 -1,644 -6

47,172 100 42,645 100 4,527 11

6.2 Net assets 
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7. Risks and opportunities 

The Management Board of HMS Bergbau AG is re-

sponsible for the Group’s risk management, which is 

integrated into all operational processes at HMS Group. 

Future opportunities and risks are identified, classified, 

evaluated, controlled and monitored as part of business 

operations. It is, and remains, our policy to only engage 

in risks that result in significant opportunities to gener-

ate income. If possible, risks should be minimised or 

transferred to third parties. Opportunities are assessed 

with regard to their income potential. The following sec-

tions describe opportunities and risks that could have a 

significant impact on the Company’s net assets, finan-

cial position and results of operations:

7.1 Price fluctuations 
In HMS Group’s traditional business – coal trading using 

back-to-back contracts and index- or fixed-price-based 

purchasing and sales agreements – there are by defini-

tion no effects on contractually agreed margins for indi-

vidual transactions. Where the back-to-back principle is 

deviated from, for example in the case of varying base 

values on the purchase and sale side for heating value 

calculations, price risks may arise. We evaluate such 

risks on a daily basis as part of our risk management 

system, taking into account current forward prices and 

expected volatility. We continue to pursue the principle 

of avoiding significant risk positions in purchasing and 

sales by limiting such risks upon contract conclusion. 

The management of HMS Bergbau AG will continue to 

strive to execute back-to-back transactions.

7.2 Financial risks 
Exchange rate and interest rate fluctuations can have 

a significant impact on the HMS Group’s earnings. 

The Company’s financial risk management therefore 

aims to hedge currency risks primarily using currency 

forwards and without entering into speculative trans-

actions. We also attempt to eliminate currency differ-

ences in financing, purchasing and sales. All group 

companies are obliged to assess and, where neces-

sary, hedge all exchange rate risks. Changes to interest 

rates, or in other words risks from interest-bearing liabil-

ities, are accounted for as financing costs and included 

in the assessment of each trading transaction, taking 

into account a risk premium and currency-specific dif-

ferences. If deemed appropriate in the long term from 

a risk management perspective, and after evaluation of 

all possible scenarios, we exchange variable interest 

rates for fixed interest rates. 

7.3 Credit ratings of business partners  
and counterparty risk
Credit risks arise from our business relationships with 

customers and are increasing on account of ongoing 

growth in the proportion of our business partners locat-

ed in Asia and Africa. In this context, the implemented 

risk management system aims to obtain adequate col-

lateral for risk-bearing transactions or to insure receiva-

bles where financially practicable. Furthermore, we se-

cure payment promises in advance of deliveries using 

letters of credit. Failure or partial failure to deliver on the 

part of suppliers may also give rise to risks that can-

not be transferred completely to the purchaser. Our risk 

management policies attempt to address these risks 

appropriately by deploying staff in the regions to ex-

amine individual terms and specifications of contracts 

in detail. 

7.4 Political risks 
The expansion of our business to the Asian and Afri-

can markets exposes us to a higher level of legal and 

political risk from, for example, attempts to exert po-

litical influence, disruptions to the supply chain, civil 

disturbances or economic strategies that may have 

detrimental effects on our business. We include risks 

from environmental and other geographical influenc-

es in these considerations. Furthermore, uncertainties 

arise from the existing legal framework, which is and 

will remain subject to ongoing change. In both Asia 

and Africa, excellent business opportunities go hand in 

hand with an increased level of risk. The Company’s 

risk management system responds to individual risks 

by attempting to draw up corresponding contractual 

arrangements or eliminate the risks by consulting with 

experienced local partners. Realistically, it is never pos-

sible to eliminate such risks completely. 
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7.5 Investment risks 
The Company’s risk management system attempts to 

identify the potential negative impact on its business 

at an early stage by continuously monitoring the mar-

keting strategy and its successful implementation, in 

order to respond to such risks accordingly by adjusting 

our strategy. 

7.6 Risk and opportunities  
resulting from the corporate strategy
Because they involve considerable opportunities and 

risks, decisions on investments and acquisitions are 

examined based on an assessment and approval pro-

cess. In some cases, experts are also consulted. The 

Management Board of HMS Bergbau AG makes the 

final decisions and, to the extent that these decisions 

are significant, obtains the approval of the Superviso-

ry Board. We take particular care to exhaustively in-

vestigate and weigh the risks and opportunities when 

entering into long-term agreements. The main factors 

to examine are the size of the reserve, the logistical in-

frastructure, the financial situation, legal requirements, 

management and the political landscape. Our risk 

management system includes actions such as obtain-

ing expert advice and reports. 

In the Trading segment, we are able to identify op-

portunities and risks at the earliest possible stage by 

intensely monitoring and analysing markets and com-

petitors. Overall, the risk management system enables 

the HMS Group to mitigate the above risks at all times 

and seize any of the resulting opportunities. The man-

agement of HMS sees the greatest opportunities in 

the potential development of new mining projects and 

investments in South Africa with the help of the collab-

orations entered into with Shumba and Masingita. In 

particular, HMS sees the opportunity to contribute its 

experience in marketing agreements to be concluded. 

HMS also sees significant opportunities in terms of 

expanding its sales activities in new markets in Asia, 

particularly in Malaysia, Vietnam and Thailand. The 

Management Board also sees considerable potential 

in the US subsidiary founded at the end of 2018.

We expect Silesian Coal International Group of Com-

panies S.A. will be granted a mining license in 2019, 

which would be a considerable enhancement to the 

overall project.
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8. Report on forecasts 

In comparison to other energy resources, the largest 

reserves and resources globally are still reported for 

coal. According to calculations by the Federal Office 

for Geosciences and Natural Resources (BGR) in the 

Energy Study 2017, reserves will still last for 120 to 200 

years, depending on the type of coal and the degree of 

global economic development. It remains undisputed, 

however, that the remaining potential of coal is suffi-

cient enough to meet the foreseeable demand for many 

decades. In addition, scientific analysis and market 

surveys indicate that the share of coal in global elec-

tricity generation will continue to develop steadily. Ac-

cording to the IEA (International Energy Agency), hard 

coal will continue to be the largest carrier for industrial 

power generation. The following diagram illustrates the 

compensation for the decline in global coal-fired pow-

er generation by the growing industries, especially in 

Asia but later also in Africa. In addition to the growing 

world population, which is anticipated to increase to 8.2 

billion by 2030, the biggest driver of this development 

is certainly growing energy consumption. Therefore, a 

primary energy matrix without coal is inconceivable for 

the next 50 years. 

Source: http://www.onvista.de/rohstoffe/, HMS Bergbau AG
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The steadily increasing development of world energy 

consumption in recent years, with fossil fuel coal as 

the primary energy source, will continue in the next few 

years. Coal prices will tend to increase in the future 

driven by rapidly growing industrial demand from the 

Pacific Rim, population growth and generally rising per 

capita consumption. The management of HMS Berg-

bau AG assumes that the Pacific Rim region will contin-

ue to gain in importance as an important sales market. 

As in previous years, Asia is increasingly becoming the 

focus of HMS Bergbau AG’s strategic orientation. In 

addition to South Africa, Indonesia is one of the most 

important production markets in the next few years 

from the management’s point of view because of the 

resources available, the favourable mining conditions 

and the central location in the Pacific region. Signifi-

cant growth potential, especially in securing large coal 

resources, continues to be essential in order to oper-

ate as a reliable trading partner in volatile markets. By 

securing its own resources, the management wants to 

guarantee the supply of end users in the Asian market 

as well as in southern Africa in the long run.

With the expectation of increasing world market pric-

es, securing our own resources and the related ex-

pansion of the value chain – from production to the 

sale to the end customer – is an essential component 

in sustainably consolidating our market position. Par-

ticularly given the known risks in nuclear energy and 

the current difficulties in implementing the “energy 

transition” in Germany, management does not expect 

declining demand for fossil fuels in Europe. As a flex-

ible energy supplier, coal-fired power generation will 

retain its importance, above all in Eastern Europe. Our 

efforts in Europe continue to focus on renewing ex-

pired contracts, closing new contracts with European 

non-power plant customers and power plant operators 

and expanding and consolidating our market position 

in niche products such as petcoke, coking coal and 

coke products to achieve even better product diver-

sification. In Africa and Asia, the Company is focusing 

on building long-term supplier and customer relation-

ships to participate in the growing importance of both 

regions in world coal trading. In financial years 2019 

and 2020, the main task of HMS Bergbau AG will be to 

regain market share in Europe while at the same time 

expanding the Asia and Africa business and entering 

the US market. At the same time, the strategy of ex-

panding the value chain, particularly by concluding and 

successfully implementing exclusive marketing agree-

ments and collaborations, as well as the development 

of proprietary production resources, must be pursued 

consistently.

In addition to expanding business volumes, HMS 

Bergbau AG’s activities focus on improving its market 

position in strategically important markets and busi-

ness segments. The focus continues to be on global 

positioning, above all in South Africa, India and Indone-

sia, but also in the US. In addition to the coal business, 

the Company’s activities are focussed in the expansion 

of trade in other raw materials, such as ores, fertilisers 

and cement products. In the medium term, this trading 

business should become another pillar of HMS Berg-

bau AG.

The flexible structures of HMS Bergbau AG have ena-

bled the company to assert itself and develop well in 

a difficult market environment over the past few years. 

Next to making its structures even more flexible, the 

company has also tapped new markets over the past 

few years as part of its vertical and horizontal integra-

tion. This development should lead to better results in 

the future and allow HMS Bergbau AG to continue to 

participate in the market on a lasting basis and partic-

ipate in the long-term positive upward trend emerging 

in the commodity markets. Management will continue 

to pursue these goals consistently in the 2019 financial 

year. Management plans to increase its sales slightly 

this year while maintaining its attractive gross margins. 

The net profit for the 2019 financial year is expected to 

be positive, similar to the level achieved in 2018.
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Berlin, 29 March 2019

Heinz Schernikau
Chief Executive Officer

Steffen Ewald
Chief Financial Officer

Dennis Schwindt
Chief Operating Officer

9. Key features of the remuneration system

The Supervisory Board decides upon the remuneration 

system for the Management Board of HMS Bergbau 

AG, including all material contractual elements, and re-

views it regularly. It also determines the remuneration 

for individual Management Board members. Manage-

ment Board remuneration consists of fixed elements 

alongside variable, performance-related components. 

Fixed remuneration is paid as a monthly salary, regard-

less of performance. Management Board members 

also receive additional non-cash fringe benefits, which 

mainly consist of the value under tax law for the pri-

vate use of a company car. Performance-related re-

muneration is dependent on the Company’s result for 

the financial year and the personal performance of the 

Management Board member in question. The remu-

neration of the Chief Executive Officer also includes 

pension commitments. 

10. Hedges  

The HMS Group entered into hedging transactions in 

the reporting period due to the price and currency risks 

of underlying individual physical transactions.

11. Closing comments pursuant to Section 312 (3) AktG

There were no dependencies in the reporting period as 

defined under Section 312 (3) AktG.

12. Forward-looking statements 

This management report includes forward-looking 

statements that reflect the current opinion of the HMS 

Group’s management with regard to future events. Any 

statement contained in this report reflecting or build-

ing upon intentions, assumptions, expectations, fore-

casts or underlying assumptions is a forward-looking 

statement. These statements are based upon plans, 

estimates and forecasts that are currently available to 

the HMS Group’s management and, therefore, only re-

fer to the point in time at which they were made. For-

ward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks 

and uncertainties, which could result in actual develop-

ments differing significantly from these forward-look-

ing statements or events implied or expressed therein. 

HMS Bergbau AG does not assume any responsibili-

ty for such statements and does not intend to update 

such statements in light of new information or future 

events.
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Assets

31/12/2018 31/12/2017

EUR EUR EUR

A. Non-current assets

I. Intangible assets

1. Licences, industrial property rights,  
similar rights and values and licences  
in such rights and values

12,316.66 12,016.72

2. Company value 4,203.11 54,640.57

16,519.77 66,657.29

II. Fixed assets

1. Other equipment, office  
and factory equipment

63,262.81 91,084.88

2. Advance payments and  
assets under construction

5,390,338.74 4,407,016.53

5,453,601.55 4,498,101.41

III. Financial assets

1. Shares in associated companies 412,586.02 457,508.06

2. Other loans receivable 9,227,083.19 7,152,790.15

9,639,669.21 7,610,298.21

15,109,790.53 12,175,056.91

B. Current assets

I. Inventories

1. Products 116,246.62 129,273.76

II. Receivable and other assets

1. Trade receivables 39,161,657.61 30,162,836.23

2. Receivables from associates 136,230.94 152,741.62

3. Other assets 1,024,232.61 1,438,622.29

40,322,121.16 31,754,200.14

III. Cash and cash equivalents 1,614,390.11 346,854.75

42,052,757.89 32,230,328.65

C. Accruals and deferrals 115,907.62 130,163.93

D. Deferred taxes 1,850,320.33 1,618,066.00

59,128,776.37 46,153,615.49

Consolidated Balance Sheet as of 31 December 2018
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Passiva

31/12/2018 31/12/2017

EUR EUR EUR

A. Shareholders‘ equity

I. Subscribed equity 4,205,096.00 4,208,746.00

II. Capital reserve 3,916,647.36 3,966,747.36

III. Profit reserves

1. Statutory reserve 5,112.92 5,112.92

2. Other profit reserves 273,158.45 273,158.45

278,271.37 278,271.37

IV. Contributions made to implement  
the capital increase

3,750,000.00 0.00

Paid In Capital 11,871,743.36 8,175,493.36

V. Consolidated net loss -1,941,413.98 -3,398,563.72

VI. Exchange differences -717,648.08 -538,632.14

-2,659,062.06 -3,937,195.86

VI. Minority interests 9,466.09 11,219.10

9,500,418.76 4,527,787.97

B. Provisions

1. Pension provisions and similar obligations 7,089,991.90 6,209,470.51

2. Tax provisions 292,526.77 157,969.06

3. Other provisions 307,904.13 433,753.26

7,690,422.80 6,801,192.83

C. Liabilities

1. Liabilities to banks 6,683,243.65 9,252,701.62

2. Trade payables 31,248,185.55 19,388,098.07

3. Other liabilities
- thereof from taxes EUR 117 thousand 
(previous year: EUR 48 thousand)
- thereof therof for social security  
EUR 3 thousand  
(previous year: EUR 2 thousand)  
- thereof from shareholders  
EUR 2,688 thousand  
(previous year: EUR 3,276 thousand) 

4,006,505.61 6,180,749.24

41,937,934.81 34,821,548.93

D. Accruals and deferrals 0.00 3,085.76

59,128,776.37 46,153,615.49
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Consolidated Income Statement 2018

2018 2017

EUR EUR

1. Sales 254,203,683.12 220,970,972.14

2. Other operating earnings 1,258,683.13 769,537.80

- thereof from currency translation: EUR 172 thousand 
(previous year: EUR228 thousand)

255,462,366.25 221,740,509.94

3. Cost of materials

Costs for goods purchased -246,910,399.65 -213,549,483.45

4. Personnel costs

a) Wages and salaries -1,612,273.99 -1,514,986.52

b) Social security costs and pension support costs
- thereof for pensions EUR 262 thousand  
(previous year: EUR 89 thousand)

-435,847.31 -144,434.01

-2,048,121.30 -1,659,420.53

5. Amortisation

Amortisation of intangible assets and fixed assets -92,698.36 -115,419.00

6. Other operating expenses
- thereof from currency translation: EUR 286 thousand  
(previous year: EUR 81 thousand)

-4,418,045.88 -4,524,420.39

7. Earnings from associated companies 0.00 0.00

8. Other interest and similar earnings 445,772.43 240,875.18

9. Depreciation of financial assets and  
securities held as current assets

0.00 -1,700,001.00

10. Interest and similar expenses
- thereof from discounting of pension obligations:
EUR 791 thousand (previous year: EUR 662 thousand)

-1,129,839.70 -1,119,402.02

11. Income taxes
- therof from deferred taxes EUR 232 thousand  
(previous year: EUR 1.618 thousand)

147,780.65 1,410,084.98

12. Earnings after taxes 1,456,814.44 723,323.71

13. Other taxes -3,885.91 -3,667.84

14. Net profit for the period* 1,452,928.53 719,655.87

15. Loss carryforward -3,398,563.72 -4,118,219.59

16. Result to be allocated to minorities interest (Loss) 4,221.21 0.00

16. Consolidated balance sheet loss -1,941,413.98 -3,398,563.72

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortisation (EBITDA)

2,085,799.42 2,007,185.57 

*2,333,449.92 EUR 2018 net profit excluding 880,521.39 EUR non-cash pension provisions (2017: 727,735.62 EUR pension provisions)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 2018

2018 2017

EUR thousand EUR thousand

1. Cash flow from current operating activities

Net earnings for the period
(in the previous year Including share attributable to minority interests)

1,453 720

Depreciation of fixed assets 93 1,815

Profit from sales of minorities -1,098 -185

Decrease (prev, increase ) in provisions 889 211

Other non-cash expenses/income (incl, pension provision) -737 -565

Increase in inventories, trade receivables and other assets -8,773 -6,922

Increase in inventories, trade payables and other liabilities 13,433 1,236

Interest expense/interest income 684 879

Income tax expense/tax benefit -148 -1,410

Income tax payments -50 473

Cash flow from current operating activities 5,746 -3,748

2. Cash flow from investment activities

Cash outflow for investments in property, plant and equipment -875 -837

Cash inflow from disposals of fixed assets 0 3

Cash outflow for investments in intangible assets -6 -12

Cash inflow from sales of minority interests to consolidated subsidiaries 1,100 0

Cash outflow for investments in associated companies -2,074 0

Cash flow from investment activities -1,856 -846

3. Cash flow from financing activities

Cash inflows from equity injections 25 34

Cash outflows for the repurchase of treasury stock -79 0

Raising of long-term loans 960 0

Repayment of long-term loans -60 0

Cash flow from financing activities 846 34

4. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period

Changes affecting payment (Subtotals 1 – 3) 4,737 -4,561

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period -8,906 -4,345

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period -4,169 -8,906

5. Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents 1,614 347

Current liabilities -5,783 -9,253

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period -4,169 -8,906
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity 2018

Group‘s Equity Minority shareholders 

Subscribed
capital

common
shares

Capital
reserve

Capital 
contributions 

made to 
implement  
the capital 

increase

Generated
consolidated

shareholders’
equity

Accumulated 
remaining 

consolidated 
income 

Currency 
translation 

adjustments

Group’s  
share

Minority  
interest

Accumulated 
remaining 

consolidated 
income 

Currency 
translation 

adjustments

Shareholders’ 
equity

Group 
equity

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

31/12/2016 4,205,496.00 3,936,489.88 0.00 -3,839,948.22 -142,010.96 4,160,026.70 0,00 0.00 0.00 4,160,026.70

Changes in the basis of consolidation 3,250.00 30,257.48 0.00 0.00 0.00 33,507.48 0.00 0.00 0.00 33,507.48

Sales of minority interest 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11,219.10 0.00 11,219.10 11,219.10

Exchange differences 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -396,621.18 -396,621.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 -396,621.18

4,208,746.00 3,966,747.36 0.00 -3,839,948.22 -538,632.14 3,796,913.00 11,219.10 0.00 11,219.10 3,808,132.10

Consolidated net income / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 719,655.87 0.00 719,655.87 0.00 0.00 0.00 719,655.87

31/12/2017 4,208,746.00 3,966,747.36 0.00 -3,120,292.35 -538,632.14 4,516,568.87 11,219.10 0.00 11,219.10 4,527,787.97

Changes in the basis of consolidation 1,850.00 23,390.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,240.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,240.00

Repurchase of treasury stock -5,500.00 -73,490.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -78,990.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -78,990.00

Non-cash capital increase 0.00 0.00 3,750,00.00 0.00 0.00 3,750,00.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,750,000.00

Sales of minority interest 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,468.20 0.00 2,468.20 2,468.20

Currency translation differences 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -179,015.94 -179,015.94 0.00 0.00 0.00 -179,015.94

4,205,096.00 3,916,647.36 3,750,000.00 -3,120,292.35 -717,648.08 8,033,802.93 13,687.30 0.00 13,687.30 8,047,490.23

Consolidated net income / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,457,149.74 0,.00 1,457,149.74 0.00 -4,221.21 -4,221.21 1,452,928.53

31/12/2018 4,205,096.00 3,916,647.36 3,750,000.00 -1,663,142.62 -717,648.08 9,490,952.67 13,687.30 -4,221.21 9,466.09 9,500,418.76
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Group‘s Equity Minority shareholders 

Subscribed
capital

common
shares

Capital
reserve

Capital 
contributions 

made to 
implement  
the capital 

increase

Generated
consolidated

shareholders’
equity

Accumulated 
remaining 

consolidated 
income 

Currency 
translation 

adjustments

Group’s  
share

Minority  
interest

Accumulated 
remaining 

consolidated 
income 

Currency 
translation 

adjustments

Shareholders’ 
equity

Group 
equity

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

31/12/2016 4,205,496.00 3,936,489.88 0.00 -3,839,948.22 -142,010.96 4,160,026.70 0,00 0.00 0.00 4,160,026.70

Changes in the basis of consolidation 3,250.00 30,257.48 0.00 0.00 0.00 33,507.48 0.00 0.00 0.00 33,507.48

Sales of minority interest 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 11,219.10 0.00 11,219.10 11,219.10

Exchange differences 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -396,621.18 -396,621.18 0.00 0.00 0.00 -396,621.18

4,208,746.00 3,966,747.36 0.00 -3,839,948.22 -538,632.14 3,796,913.00 11,219.10 0.00 11,219.10 3,808,132.10

Consolidated net income / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 719,655.87 0.00 719,655.87 0.00 0.00 0.00 719,655.87

31/12/2017 4,208,746.00 3,966,747.36 0.00 -3,120,292.35 -538,632.14 4,516,568.87 11,219.10 0.00 11,219.10 4,527,787.97

Changes in the basis of consolidation 1,850.00 23,390.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,240.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 25,240.00

Repurchase of treasury stock -5,500.00 -73,490.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -78,990.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -78,990.00

Non-cash capital increase 0.00 0.00 3,750,00.00 0.00 0.00 3,750,00.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3,750,000.00

Sales of minority interest 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2,468.20 0.00 2,468.20 2,468.20

Currency translation differences 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -179,015.94 -179,015.94 0.00 0.00 0.00 -179,015.94

4,205,096.00 3,916,647.36 3,750,000.00 -3,120,292.35 -717,648.08 8,033,802.93 13,687.30 0.00 13,687.30 8,047,490.23

Consolidated net income / loss 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,457,149.74 0,.00 1,457,149.74 0.00 -4,221.21 -4,221.21 1,452,928.53

31/12/2018 4,205,096.00 3,916,647.36 3,750,000.00 -1,663,142.62 -717,648.08 9,490,952.67 13,687.30 -4,221.21 9,466.09 9,500,418.76
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Statement of Changes in Current Assets as of December 31, 2018

Procurement and manufacturing costs Accumulated amortisation and depreciation Book values

01/01/2018 Currency
conversion

Additions Disposals Re- 
classifications

31/12/2018 01/01/2018 Currency
conversion

Additions Disposals Re- 
classifications

31/12/2018 31/12/2018 31/12/2017

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

I. Intangible assets

1. Licences, industrial property rights, similar
rights and values and licences in such rights
and values

42,364.49 125.77 6,009.20 0.00 0.00 48,499.46 30,347.77 -151.64 5,986.67 0.00 0.00 36,182.80 12,316.66 12,016.72

2. Goodwill 252,187.29 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 252,187.29 197,546.72 0.00 50,437.46 0.00 0.00 247,984.18 4,203.11 54,640.57

294,551.78 125.77 6,009.20 0.00 0.00 300,686.75 227,894.49 -151.64 56,424.13 0.00 0.00 284,166.98 16,519.77 66,657.28

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. Other equipment, office and factory  
equipment

576,234.14 -18,214.61 14,447.23 1,308.29 0.00 571,158.47 485,149.26 -12,220.52 36,274.23 1,307.31 0.00 507,895.66 63,262.81 91,084.88

2. Deposits paid / plant under construction 4,407,016.53 122,481.57 860,840.64 0.00 0.00 5,390,338.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,390,338.74 4,407,016.53

4,983,25.67 104,266.97 875,287.87 1,308.29 0.00 5,961,497.21 485,149.26 -12,220.52 36,274.23 1,307.31 0.00 507,895.66 5,453,601.55 4,498,101.41

III. Investments

1. Investments 520,855.95 -44,922.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 475,933.91 63,347.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 63,347.89 412,586.02 457,508.06

2. Other loans receivable 8,852,790.15 0.00 2,074,293.04 0.00 0.00 10,927,083.19 1,700,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,700,000.00 9,227,083.19 7,152,790.15

9,373,646.10 -44,922,04 2,074,293.04 0.00 0.00 11,403,017.10 1,763,347.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,763,347.89 9,639,669.21 7,610,298.21

14,651,448.55 59,470.70 2,955,590.11 1,308.29 0.00 17,665,201.06 2,476,391.64 -12,372.16 92,698.36 1,307.31 0.00 2,555,410.53 15,109,790.53 12,175,056.90
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Statement of Changes in Current Assets as of December 31, 2018

Procurement and manufacturing costs Accumulated amortisation and depreciation Book values

01/01/2018 Currency
conversion

Additions Disposals Re- 
classifications

31/12/2018 01/01/2018 Currency
conversion

Additions Disposals Re- 
classifications

31/12/2018 31/12/2018 31/12/2017

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR

I. Intangible assets

1. Licences, industrial property rights, similar
rights and values and licences in such rights
and values

42,364.49 125.77 6,009.20 0.00 0.00 48,499.46 30,347.77 -151.64 5,986.67 0.00 0.00 36,182.80 12,316.66 12,016.72

2. Goodwill 252,187.29 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 252,187.29 197,546.72 0.00 50,437.46 0.00 0.00 247,984.18 4,203.11 54,640.57

294,551.78 125.77 6,009.20 0.00 0.00 300,686.75 227,894.49 -151.64 56,424.13 0.00 0.00 284,166.98 16,519.77 66,657.28

II. Property, plant and equipment

1. Other equipment, office and factory  
equipment

576,234.14 -18,214.61 14,447.23 1,308.29 0.00 571,158.47 485,149.26 -12,220.52 36,274.23 1,307.31 0.00 507,895.66 63,262.81 91,084.88

2. Deposits paid / plant under construction 4,407,016.53 122,481.57 860,840.64 0.00 0.00 5,390,338.74 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 5,390,338.74 4,407,016.53

4,983,25.67 104,266.97 875,287.87 1,308.29 0.00 5,961,497.21 485,149.26 -12,220.52 36,274.23 1,307.31 0.00 507,895.66 5,453,601.55 4,498,101.41

III. Investments

1. Investments 520,855.95 -44,922.04 0.00 0.00 0.00 475,933.91 63,347.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 63,347.89 412,586.02 457,508.06

2. Other loans receivable 8,852,790.15 0.00 2,074,293.04 0.00 0.00 10,927,083.19 1,700,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,700,000.00 9,227,083.19 7,152,790.15

9,373,646.10 -44,922,04 2,074,293.04 0.00 0.00 11,403,017.10 1,763,347.89 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,763,347.89 9,639,669.21 7,610,298.21

14,651,448.55 59,470.70 2,955,590.11 1,308.29 0.00 17,665,201.06 2,476,391.64 -12,372.16 92,698.36 1,307.31 0.00 2,555,410.53 15,109,790.53 12,175,056.90
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I.	 General company information

HMS Bergbau AG is headquartered in Berlin, Germa-

ny. The company is entered in the commercial register 

of the District Court of Berlin-Charlottenburg under 

HRB 59190.

II.	 General information on the content 
and structure of the consolidated 
financial statements

HMS Bergbau AG is a large stock corporation with-

in the meaning of Section 267 (3) of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB).

The consolidated financial statements of HMS Berg-

bau AG for the financial year from 1 January to 31 De-

cember 2018 were prepared in accordance with the 

accounting and valuation principles under German 

commercial law and the provisions of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

The financial year of the Group and of all entities in-

cluded in the consolidated financial statements corre-

sponds to the calendar year.

In addition to the balance sheet, income statement 

and notes, the cash flow statement and statement of 

changes in equity are presented separately pursuant 

to Section 297 (1) HGB.

The income statement was prepared using the total 

cost method. 

III.	Scope of consolidation

1. Information on all Group entities
All German and foreign associated subsidiaries were in-

cluded in the consolidated financial statements. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

HMS Bergbau AG, Berlin

Financial Year 2018

Name Headquarters Interest in
  %

Equity  
EUR thousands

Annual result  
EUR thousands

HMS Bergbau Africa (Pty) Ltd. Johannesburg 100 280 104

HMS Bergbau Singapore (Pte) Ltd. Singapore 100 1,682 302

PT. HMS Bergbau Indonesia Jakarta 100 -3,407 -100

Silesian Coal International  
Group of Companies S.A.

Katowice 98.7 -986 -384

HMS Bergbau USA Corp.* Miami 100 1 0

IV.	Consolidation principles

The annual financial statements of the subsidiaries in-

cluded in the consolidated financial statements were 

prepared as at 31 December 2018, which is the report-

ing date of the parent company. 

The annual financial statements of the subsidiaries in-

cluded in the consolidated financial statements were 

prepared in a uniform manner, using the accounting and 

valuation princi-ples of HMS Bergbau AG pursuant to 

legal provisions.

The annual financial statements of the foreign subsidi-

aries were prepared in accordance with the applicable 

laws of each country and were reconciled to the re-

porting standards of the parent company. The balance 

sheet and income statement structure were aligned to 

the reporting structure of the parent company.

The consolidated financial statements were prepared as 

at the reporting date of the parent company.

*) founded in November 2018
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1. Information of the capital  
consolidation method applied
For fully consolidated subsidiaries acquired prior to 1 

January 2010, capital consolidation was carried out as 

at the date of acquisition according to the book value 

method pursuant to Section 301 (1) no. 1 HGB (old ver-

sion), whereby the acquisition costs were offset against 

the pro rata equity of the subsidiaries as at the time of 

acquisition or their first-time consolidation. For subsidi-

aries acquired after 1 January 2010, capital consolida-

tion is carried out as at the time of acquisition according 

to the revaluation method pursuant to Section 301 (1) 

HGB. Equity is recognised at the amount equivalent to 

the present value of the assets, liabilities, accruals and 

deferrals, and special items included in the consolidat-

ed financial statements applicable as at the time of ac-

quisition. 

2. Date of first-time consolidation 
The date on which the entity is established by the par-

ent company always represents the date on which cap-

ital is consolidated within the meaning of Section 301 

(2) HGB. As a result, capital was consolidated based 

on the values as at the entities’ establishment also for 

entities established prior to the reporting year. Any prof-

its or losses generated by subsidiaries before 1 Janu-

ary 2010 were included in and offset against the parent 

company’s retained earnings. For these companies, the 

consolidation did not result in a difference within the 

meaning of Section 301 (1) HGB (old version). 

Entities acquired after 1 January 2010 are included as 

at the time they became subsidiaries of the parent com-

pany pursuant to Section 301 (2) HGB. 

3. Debt consolidation 
Mutual receivables and liabilities between the consoli-

dated entities are offset against each other and elimi-

nated within the context of debt consolidation. Any re-

sulting differences from the consolidation of intra-group 

receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign curren-

cies are directly recognised in equity. 

4. Consolidation of income and expenses,  
elimination of intra-group profits
Intra-group sales are offset against the corresponding 

intra-group expenses. 

Expenses and income from other business transactions 

between consolidated entities are also offset against 

each other. 

There were no intra-group profits from deliveries and 

services within the Group. 

V.	 Currency translation principles 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in 

euros, the functional and reporting currency of the par-

ent company.

The balance sheets of foreign subsidiaries are trans-

lated using the spot exchange rate prevailing on the 

balance sheet date in accordance with Section 308a 

sentence 1 HGB and the income statements using the 

average annual rate in accordance with Section 308a 

sentence 2 HGB. Shareholders’ equity is translated at 

the historical rate. 

Differences arising from the currency translation of as-

sets and liabilities are recognised directly in equity. 

Exchange rate differences arising from the currency 

translation of items of the income statement and the an-

nual results are reported as income or expenses within 

the consolidated net profit.

VI.	Accounting and valuation principles 

Accounting and valuation 
The consolidated financial statements comply with the 

applicable provisions of Section 298 HGB. 

Intangible assets  are carried at cost less scheduled 

amortisation. 

Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost less 

straightline depreciation over the expected useful life. 

Financial assets are carried at cost. In cases of perma-

nent impairment, financial assets are impaired at their 

lower fair value. If the reasons for the impairment no 

longer exist, the impairment loss is reversed.
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Receivables and other assets are recognised at the 

lower of their nominal value or fair value as at the bal-

ance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents impairment recognised at 

their nominal amounts. 

Deferred tax assets resulted from differences in the car-

rying amounts of assets, liabilities, accruals and defer-

rals under commercial law and tax law. These differenc-

es are expected to be reversed in later years. Deferred 

tax assets are recognised for tax loss carryforwards to 

the extent they are expected to be offset against taxa-

ble income in the next five years. Deferred tax assets 

are based on the company-specific tax rate at the time 

of the reversal of the differences. The amounts recog-

nised are to be released when the tax burden or relief 

occurs or is no longer expected to occur.

Defined pension obligations are calculated based on 

the projected unit credit method, using the “2018 G” 

mortality tables compiled by Prof Dr Klaus Heubeck, 

assuming an unchanged staff turnover and salary tend 

of 0%, a discount rate of 3.21% (previous year: 3.68%) 

and an unchanged pension trend of 2.0%. The differ-

ence between the seven-year and ten-year average in-

terest rate, which is restricted from distribution (Section 

253 (6) sentence 2 HGB, revised version) amounted to 

EUR 1,028 thousand. The first-time application of the 

German Accounting Law Modernisation Act (BilMoG) 

in the 2010 financial resulted in an amounted to be al-

located to pension provisions of EUR 3,341 thousand 

in accordance with actuarial principles, which is spread 

over a period of 15 years pursuant to Article 67 (1), sen-

tence 1, of the Introductory Act to the German Com-

mercial Code (EGHGB). A total of EUR 2,227 thousand 

of this amount was allocated as at 31 December 2018. 

The remaining amount of EUR 1,114 thousand will be 

allocated to pension obligations until the year 2024 in 

yearly instalments of EUR 223 thousand and recog-

nised as an expense. The transition from the „2005 G“ 

mortality tables by Prof Dr Klaus Heubeck to the „2018 

G“ tables resulted in a one-time transition expense of 

EUR 140 thousand in the 2018 financial year.

Other provisions take into account all foreseeable risks 

and uncertain obligations and are recognised at their 

settlement amount, i.e. including expected increases in 

prices and costs.

Liabilities are recognised at their repayment amount.

The translation of business transactions in foreign cur-

rencies is based on the spot exchange rate in accord-

ance with Section 256a HGB. 

 

VII. Notes on the consolidated  
  balance sheet

The statement of changes in non-current assets shows 

the development of the individual line items within 

non-current assets. 

Goodwill results from the interest (100%) in Silesian 

Coal International Group of Companies S.A. acquired in 

2014. The useful life of goodwill is five years. 

Advance payments and assets under construction re-

late to exploration and development costs associated 

with the acquisition of a mining licence for the coalfield 

in Orzesze, Poland. 

Other loans receivable are to affiliated companies. Addi-

tions result from the provision of new loans.

As in the previous year, all receivables, other assets and 

liabilities (except for liabilities to banks) have remaining 

terms of less than one year. 

Deferred tax assets resulted primarily from the differ-

ence in the valuation of pension provision (EUR 1,153 

thousand) and tax loss carryforwards (EUR 698 thou-

sand). The calculation of temporary differences is based 

on the respective company-specific overall tax rate of 

30.18%. The measurement of deferred taxes as at 31 

December 2018 continued to result in a surplus of de-

ferred tax assets over liabilities as was the case on the 

prior year’s reporting date. The amount of capitalised 

deferred tax assets (EUR 1,850 thousand) is restricted 

from distribution.

Subscribed capital amounting to EUR 4,370,000.00 is 

comprised of 4,370,000 ordinary bearer shares with a 

nominal value of EUR 1.00 each. In June and Novem-

ber 2018, there was a resolution to increase the share 

capital by EUR 220,588.00 to EUR 4,590,588.00 by 

issuing 220,588 no-par value ordinary bearer shares 

with a notional interest in the share capital of EUR 

1.00 per share against contribution in kind. The con-
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tribution consisted of receivables of LaVo Verwaltungs-

gesellschaft GmbH and IMT Commodities Holding AG, 

Vaduz, Liechtenstein, totalling EUR 3,750,000.00. The 

entry in the commercial register took place on 18 Janu-

ary 2019. According to the contribution agreement, the 

claims were already assigned to HMS Bergbau AG at 

the time the contract was concluded. As a result, the 

entire contribution in kind was recognised in a special 

item “Contributions made to execute the approved cap-

ital increase”. In the 2018 financial year, 1,850 treasury 

shares were issued to employees; each share repre-

sents EUR 1.00 in the share capital (EUR 1,850.00). In 

addition, a total of 5,500 shares were repurchased from 

former employees of the HMS Group who had previ-

ously been granted employee shares. As at the balance 

sheet date, the company held 164,904 treasury shares.

Capital reserves of EUR 3,824,847.36 resulted from 

the difference between the nominal value and the issue 

price. The decrease of EUR 50,100.00 was a result of 

the repurchase of 5,500 treasury shares from former 

employees, which was offset by an increase from the 

issue of 1,850 treasury shares to employees.

Authorised capital amounts to EUR 1,964,412.00. The 

authorisation expires at the end of 19 August 2020.

Subscription rights still exercisable within the context of 

an employee stock options programme totalled 41,438, 

which may be issued via treasury shares.

Pension provisions, net of the fair value of plan assets of 

EUR 673 thousand serving exclusively to meet pension 

obligations, amounted to EUR 7,090 thousand. Plan 

assets are held in the form of a management and col-

lateral trust agreement for beneficiaries and consist of a 

bank account and custody account at DWS investing in 

equities. The fair value (EUR 673 thousand) equals the 

nominal amount of the bank account and the price of 

the equity fund as at the reporting date. In the financial 

year, EUR 50 thousand was recognised as an expense 

from the valuation of plan assets. Pensions amounting 

to EUR 480 thousand were paid in 2018, partially from 

trust assets. For actuarial reasons, a reversal of pro-

visions in the amount of EUR 100 thousand was rec-

ognised in personnel expenses as well as an expense 

or allocation to provisions in the amount of EUR 140 

thousand as a result from the transition from the “2005 

G” mortality tables to the “2018 G” tables of Prof Dr 

Klaus Heubeck. The compounding of interest and the 

change in the discount rate resulted in an interest ex-

pense of EUR 791 thousand, which was recognised in 

the income statement.

Other provisions mainly concern costs for the prepara-

tion of the financial statements of EUR 102 thousand, 

Supervisory Board remuneration of EUR 99 thousand, 

outstanding invoices of EUR 43 thousand and person-

nel provisions of EUR 33 thousand.

Liabilities to banks include EUR 5,543 thousand of 

trade financing of individual back-to-back transactions 

and EUR 1,140 thousand of overdraft facilities. An 

amount of EUR 60 thousand is used quarterly to repay 

the overdraft facilities, resulting in EUR 900 thousand 

of the total facilities having a residual term of more than 

one year. The other components have a remaining term 

of up to one year. 

All trade payables and other liabilities have a remaining 

term of less than one year.

Contingent liabilities within the meaning  
of Section 251 HGB
HMS Bergbau AG issued a letter of comfort to duis-

port agency GmbH according to which it undertakes 

to meet the financial obligations of HMS Bergbau Coal 

Division GmbH (formerly: HMS Bergbau AG Coal Divi-

sion) relating to a coal handling and processing contract 

with duisport agency GmbH. This letter of comfort is 

currently not expected to be utilised.

Other financial obligations
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s purchase ob-

ligations from contracts concluded amounted to EUR 

15,582 thousand, all relating to the 2019 financial year.

Additional other financial obligations mainly result from 

rental and lease agreements. The maturities of these 

obligations are as follows:

	 Up to 1 year		  EUR	 183 tousand

	 Between 1 and 5 years	 EUR	 439 tousand

	 More than 5 years	 EUR	 0 tousand 
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VIII. Notes on the consolidated  
income statement 

Sales of EUR 254,204 thousand were generated in the 

financial year, mainly from trading coal products such as 

steam coal, coking coal, anthracite, ores and cement 

products. On a regional basis, sales originated from 

Asia (50%), Africa (42%), Europe/Other countries (8%). 

Cost of materials resulted from the global purchase of 

steam coal, coking coal and anthracite. 

Other operating income primarily includes currency 

translation gains of EUR 172 thousand and a gain of 

EUR 1,098 thousand from the sale of a 1.1% interest in 

the Polish subsidiary Silesian Coal International Group 

of Companies S.A. 

Other operating expenses mainly include legal and con-

sulting fees (EUR 1,379 thousand), vehicle and travel 

expenses (EUR 593 thousand), fulfilment costs (EUR 

1,612 thousand), occupancy costs (EUR 191 thou-

sand), currency translation losses (EUR 286 thousand) 

and the 1/15th of the allocation to pension provisions 

(EUR 223 thousand) resulting from the changed meas-

urement pursuant to Section 253 (1) sentence 2 HGB. 

The financial result includes interest expenses on pen-

sion obligations of EUR 791 thousand.

Income tax benefits resulted from the carryover of de-

ferred tax assets (EUR 232 thousand). 

IX. Notes on the consolidated  
cash flow statement

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and liabilities to 

banks due on demand as well as other current borrow-

ings related to the disposition of cash and cash equiv-

alents.

X. Other notes

1. Names of Management Board  
and Supervisory Board members
During the past financial year, the company’s business 

was conducted by the following Management Board 

members:

▲ Mr Heinz Schernikau, Chief Executive Officer,

▲ Mr Steffen Ewald, Chief Financial Officer,

▲ Mr Dennis Schwindt, Chief Operating Officer.

Disclosure of the Management Board remuneration was 

waived by exercising the option granted by Section 286 

(4) HGB.

During the financial year, the Supervisory Board was 

composed of the following members:

▲ Dr Hans-Dieter Harig; engineer, retired, 

Chairman of the Supervisory Board,

▲ Dr h.c. Michael Bärlein; lawyer, Berlin,  

Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board,

▲ Ms Michaela Schernikau; merchant,  

Managing Director, Berlin.

During the financial year, Ms Michaela Schernikau was 

also a member of the Supervisory Boards of the follow-

ing companies: HMS Bergbau AG Iron Ore & Metals 

Division, Berlin; and HMS Bergbau AG Coal Division 

GmbH, Berlin (formerly: HMS Bergbau AG Coal Divi-

sion).

The members of the Supervisory Board received re-

muneration of EUR 32 thousand for their activities in 

2018. The company has recognised a provision totalling 

EUR 99 thousand for the remuneration stipulated by the 

Company’s Articles of Association for the 2018 financial 

year and prior years. 
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2. Auditor’s fee 
The auditor’s fee amounted to EUR 44 thousand. In 

addition, the auditor performed other services totalling 

EUR 9 thousand in 2018.

3. Average number of employees  
during the financial year
An average of 37 staff (16 women, 21 men) was em-

ployed in the 2018 financial year. 

4. Amounts restricted from distribution
The difference between the seven-year and ten-year av-

erage interest rate in the valuation of pension provisions 

is restricted from distribution (Section 253 (6) sentence 

2 HGB) and amounts to EUR 1,028 thousand. 

The capitalisation of deferred tax assets resulted in a 

distribution restriction of EUR 1,850 thousand pursuant 

to Section 268 88) HGB.

 5. Subsequent events
There were no events of special significance after the 

end of the financial year.

Berlin, 29 March 2019

Heinz Schernikau
Chief Executive Officer

Steffen Ewald
Chief Financial Officer

Dennis Schwindt
Chief Operating Officer

Concept, editing and design:

GFEI Aktiengesellschaft

Ostergrube 11

30559 Hannover

Germany

T: +49 (0) 511 47 40 23 10

F: +49 (0) 511 47 40 23 19

E-Mail: kontakt@gfei.ag

www.gfei.ag
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Audit opinions  
We audited the consolidated financial statements of HMS Berg-
bau AG, Berlin, and its subsidiaries (the Group) – consisting of the 
consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2018, the consol-
idated income statement, the consolidated cash flow statement 
and the consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ eq-
uity for the financial year from 1 January 2018 through 31 De-
cember 2018, as well as the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including the presentation of accounting policies. In 
addition, we audited the report on the situation of the company 
and the HMS Bergbau AG Group for the financial year from 1 Jan-
uary through 31 December 2018.

In our opinion, based on the knowledge obtained in the course 
of the audit,
•	 the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply 

with German commercial law in all material respects and, in 
accordance with German generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples, give a true and fair view of the net assets and financial 
position of the Group as of 31 December 2018 and its results of 
operations for the financial year from 1 January 2018 through 
31 December 2018;

•	 the accompanying report on the situation of the Company and 
the Group as a whole gives a true picture of the situation of the 
Company. In all material respects, this combined management 
report is consistent with the annual financial statements, com-
plies with German statutory provisions and accurately presents 
the opportunities and risks of the future development.

In accordance with Section 322 (3) sentence 1 HGB (German 
Commercial Code), we declare that our audit has not led to any 
objections to the regularity of the consolidated financial state-
ments or the report on the situation of the Company and the 
Group.

Basis for the audit opinions 
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements 
and the report on the situation of the Company and the Group in 
accordance with Section 317 HGB and the generally accepted 
German standards for the audit of financial statements promul-
gated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany (Institut der 
Wirtschaftsprüfer – IDW). Our responsibilities under these rules 
and policies are further described in the section entitled „Auditor‘s 
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the management report“ of our audit opinion. We are 
independent of the Group companies in accordance with Ger-
man commercial law and rules of professional conduct and have 
fulfilled our other German professional obligations in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to form the basis for 
our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements and the 
report on the situation of the Company and the Group.

The legal representatives are responsible  
for the other information.
Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and 
the report on the situation of the Company and the Group do not 
extend to the other information and, accordingly, we provide nei-
ther an audit opinion nor any other form of audit conclusion on 
these issues.

In connection with our audit, we have the responsibility to read the 
other information and to evaluate whether the other information
•	 has material inconsistencies with the consolidated financial 

statements, the report on the situation of the Company and the 
Group or with our knowledge obtained during the audit;

or otherwise appears significantly misrepresented.

Responsibility of the legal representatives for the consolidated 
financial statements and the management report
The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements, which comply with German 
commercial law in all material respects, and that the consolidated 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, 
financial position and results of operations of the Group in accord-
ance with generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, 
the legal representatives are responsible for the internal controls 
that they have determined to be necessary in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in order to facilitate the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
any intentional or unintentional material misstatements.

When preparing the consolidated financial statements, the legal 
representatives are responsible for assessing the Group‘s ability 
to continue as a going concern and for disclosing matters relating 
to the continuation of the business, where relevant. In addition, 
they are responsible for accounting on the basis of the going con-
cern accounting principle, unless contrary to fact or law.

In addition, the legal representatives are responsible for the 
preparation of the report on the situation of the Company and 
the Group, which overall conveys a true picture of the Group‘s 
position and is consistent with the consolidated financial state-
ments in all material respects, complies with German statutory 
provisions and accurately presents the opportunities and risks of 
the future development. In addition, the legal representatives are 
responsible for the arrangements and measures (systems) that 
they deem necessary to enable the preparation of a group man-
agement report in accordance with the applicable German statu-
tory provisions and to provide sufficient and suitable evidence for 
the statements in the group management report.

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements and the management report
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
intentional or unintentional material misstatements, and whether 
the report on the position of the Company and the Group as a 
whole provides a true picture of the Company‘s situation and in 
all material respects is consistent with the consolidated financial 
statements and the knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, 
complies with German statutory provisions, accurately presents 
the opportunities and risks of the future development and to issue 
an audit opinion that includes our audit opinion on the consoli-
dated financial statements and the report on the position of the 
Company and the Group.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but no guar-
antee that an audit conducted in accordance with Section 317 
HGB and in compliance with the German generally accepted 
standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 
Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) will always detect a material 
misstatement. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if individually or together could reason-
ably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and 
the report on the position of the Company and the Group. 

Auditor’s report 
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Legal notice

The report includes forward-looking statements that reflect the current opinion of HMS Bergbau AG’s management with regard to future 
events. Any statement contained in this report reflecting or building upon intentions, assumptions, expectations, forecasts and underlying 
assumptions is a forward-looking statement. These statements are based upon plans, estimates and forecasts that are currently available 
to HMS Bergbau AG’s management. They therefore only refer to the day on which they were made. Forward-looking statements are 
naturally subject to risks and uncertainties, which could result in actual developments differing significantly from these forward-looking 
statements or events implied or expressed therein. HMS Bergbau AG does not assume any liability for such statements and does not 
intend to update such statements in view of new information or future events. This annual report of HMS Bergbau AG does represent 
annual financial statements in accordance with German commercial law and the regulations of the German Stock Corporation Act; 
information or figures contained in this report have been subject to an official audit by an auditor. This report is for reference only within 
the scope of HMS Bergbau AG’s disclosure obligations in accordance with the general terms and conditions of Deutsche Börse AG 
concerning OTC trading on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange.

The English version of the annual report and the consolidated financial statements 2017 of HMS Bergbau AG is a one-to-one translation. 
The English version is not audited; in the event of variances, the German version shall take precedence over the English translation.

During the audit, we exercise due discretion and maintain a critical 
attitude. In addition, we 
•	 identify and assess the risk of any intentional or unintention-

al material misstatements in the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group management report, plan and perform 
audit procedures in response to such risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstate-
ment resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omis-
sions, misrepresentations or the overriding of internal controls;

•	 obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the au-
dit of the consolidated financial statements and of the arrange-
ments and measures relevant to the audit of the report on the 
position of the Company and the Group, in order to plan audit 
procedures that are appropriate for the circumstances but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of these systems of the Company;

•	 evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies used, 
as well as the feasibility of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the legal representatives;

•	 draw conclusions as to the appropriateness of the legal repre-
sentatives’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material un-
certainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a go-
ing concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention to this fact in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements and report on the position of the Company and 
the Group or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
particular opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evi-
dence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern;

•	 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that gives 
a true and fair view of the Group’s net assets, financial position, 
and results of operations in accordance with German generally 
accepted accounting principles; 

•	 obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities within 
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements and the report on the position of the Company and 
the Group. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the Group audit. We are solely responsible 
for our audit opinions;

•	 evaluate the consistency of the report on the position of the 
Company and the Group with the consolidated financial state-
ments, its legal compliance and the presentation of the Com-
pany’s position;

•	 perform audit procedures on the prospective information pre-
sented by the legal representatives in the report on the position 
of the Company and the Group. Based on sufficient and appro-
priate audit evidence, we hereby, in particular, review the signif-
icant assumptions used by the legal representatives as a basis 
for the prospective information and assess the appropriate der-
ivation of the prospective information from these assumptions. 

We are not issuing a separate audit opinion on the prospective 
information or the underlying assumptions. There is a significant, 
unavoidable risk that future events will deviate significantly from 
the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies 
in the internal control system that we identify during our audit. 

Berlin, 23 April 2019
PANARES GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft

Wenning
Auditor 
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S  Subsidiaries
RO  Representative Offices
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Germany H
HMS Bergbau AG (headquarter)

Berlin, Germany
An der Wuhlheide 232
12459 Berlin
Germany

T: +49 (30) 65 66 81 0
F: +49 (30) 65 66 81 15
E-Mail: hms@hms-ag.com
 

Germany S
HMS Oil and Gas Division GmbH

Berlin, Germany
An der Wuhlheide 232
12459 Berlin
Germany

T: +49 (30) 65 66 81 0
F: +49 (30) 65 66 81 15
E-Mail: hms@hms-ag.com
 

USA S
HMS Bergbau USA Corp.

66 West Flagler St
PH 1
Miami, FL
USA 33130

T: +1 (786) 740-8023
E-Mail: hmsusa@hms-ag.com
 

Indonesia S
PT. HMS Bergbau Indonesia

Menara Rajawali, 25th Floor
Mega Kuningan
Jakarta 12950
Indonesia

T: +62 (21) 57 64 57 77 9
F: +62 (21) 57 94 82 03
E-Mail: hmsi@hms-ag.com

Singapore S
HMS Bergbau Singapore Pte. Ltd.

80 Raffles Place
UOB Plaza 1,#36-07
Singapore 048624
Singapore

T: +65 6908 57 95 / 57 96
F: +65 6908 57 97
E-mail: singapore@hms-ag.com

Poland S
Silesian Coal International Group 
of Companies S. A.

z siedzibą w Katowicach ul. E. Imieli 14
41-605 Świętochłowice
Poland

T: +48 (32) 77 10 20 0
F: +48 (32) 77 10 20 0
E-mail: hmspoland@hms-ag.com

South Africa S

HMS Bergbau Africa (Pty) Ltd. 

Workshop 17
138 West St, 
Sandton, Johannesburg, 2031
South Africa

T: +27 (10) 140 36 30
E-Mail: hmsa@hms-ag.com

India RO

HMS Growell India

Mumbai 
India

T: +91 (22) 22 66 55 22
E-mail: hmsgrowell@hms-ag.com 

Pakistan RO

HMS Bergbau Pakistan

Lahore
Pakistan

T: +92 (42) 36 31 32 35 & 36
E-mail: hmspakistan@hms-ag.com

Kenya RO

HMS Bergbau Kenya

Nairobi
Kenya

T: +254 (733) 96 66 05
E-Mail: hmskenya@hms-ag.com 

Malaysia RO

HMS Bergbau Malaysia

Ipoh, Perak
Malaysia

T: +60 (55) 46 91 44
E-mail: hmsmalaysia@hms-ag.com

China RO

HMS Bergbau China

Zhongshan, Guangdong Prov.
China

T: +86 (760) 88 22 33 68
E-Mail: hmschina@hms-ag.com

Sri Lanka RO

HMS Bergbau Sri Lanka

Colombo

T: +94 (77) 46 89 155
E-Mail: hmssrilanka@hms-ag.com

United Arab Emirates RO

HMS Bergbau UAE 

Dubai

T: +971 (674) 81 999
E-Mail: hmsdubai@hms-ag.com


